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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited, (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to
all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the audited
consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023 (the “Financial Year”) with comparative figures for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Previous Financial Year”).

The Group was facing a very challenging business environment
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, economic downturn and
weaker consumption sentiments. The customer adopt a more
conservative marketing model, in addition to tightening order
and inventory policies. The revenue of the Group has dropped to
approximately HK$8.1 million for the Financial Year as compared
with the revenue of approximately HK$11.1 million recorded in
the Previous Financial Year. Furthermore, the progress of the
Group’s clinical trial of the oral insulin product was disturbed
by the lockdown of certain areas in China. The launch of the
product would be further postponed to the first quarter 2025.

The Group recorded the loss attributable to the owners of the
Company for the Financial Year amounted to approximately
HK$245.7 million as compared with the profit of approximately
HK$45.8 million in Previous Financial Year. It is attributable to a
gain on modification of convertible bonds of HK$250.7 million
was booked in Previous Financial Year.
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OUTLOOK

The business environment is still challenging in the coming year.
The geopolitical tensions will lead the economic uncertainties in
the global business environment. Given the relaxation of strict
COVID-19 epidemic policies and the opening of borders in the
first quarter of 2023, the overall macro economy and consumer
sentiment improved greatly. We anticipate that the performance
of the Group’s trading of beauty equipment and products
business will be improved.

The management team has actively worked with the contract
research organization to speed up the progress of the clinical
trial and make the best effort to achieve the schedule of
commercialization of the product.

The Company continues to actively pursue and review
cooperation, joint ventures, and investments with suitable
partners and will continue to focus on improving the Group’s
attractiveness and profitability as necessary to enhance
shareholder returns and the sustainable long-term development
of the Group as a whole.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of all the members of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group for their continued support and
trust during the past year, and my most sincere appreciation
to the directors, management, and staff at all levels for their
dedication, hard work, and contributions to the Group.

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 29 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Group Results

Revenue of the Group for the Financial Year amounted to
approximately HK$8,075,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 27.5% as compared with the total revenue of
approximately HK$11,145,000 that was recorded in the Previous
Financial Year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in business of the trading of beauty equipment
and products segment during the Financial Year. The Group
recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$245,698,000 for the Financial
Year as compared to profit of HK$45,803,000 in Previous
Financial Year. The change from profit to loss is mainly due
to an amount of approximately HK$250,654,000 represented
a gain on modification of convertible bonds was recorded in
Previous Financial Year. There is no such gain for the Financial
Year. Furthermore, the effective interest expense on convertible
bonds was increased by approximately HK$43,899,000 for the
Financial Year.

Trading of beauty equipment and products

During the Financial Year, revenue from the trading of
beauty equipment and products amounted to approximately
HK$8,075,000, representing a decrease of approximately 27.5%
from the revenue in the amount of approximately HK$11,145,000
that was recorded in the Previous Financial Year. The decrease
in trading revenue was mainly due to the COVID-19 pandemic is
still affecting the business.

Research and development

The in-process research and development project (the “In-
process R&D”) represented an in-process research and
development project involving an oral insulin product (the
“Product”).

The in-process R&D was recorded as intangible asset in Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position with carrying
value of HK$1,373,224,000. The management performs the
impairment assessment at the end of each reporting period.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development (continueq)

The recoverable amount of the intangible asset is determined
based on fair value calculations which used cash flow
projections prepared by the management of the Group using
certain key assumptions. Key assumptions for the fair value
calculations were based on estimated cash inflows derived from
budgeted sales and gross margin which estimated based on the
expectations for the market development.

At the end of the Financial Year, the Directors of the Company
have performed impairment assessments on the intangible asset
by reference to the valuation conducted by Roma Appraisals
Limited, an independent qualified valuer. The recoverable
amount of the intangible asset is determined based on the
estimated fair value of the In-process R&D. Based on the
assessment, the recoverable amount of the Group’s intangible
asset is estimated to be higher than the carrying amount and
therefore the Directors of the Company considered that no
impairment is necessary as at 31 March 2023.

Prior to the commercialisation of the Product, the Group
will need to go through, among others, the following key
development stages: (i) execution of clinical trial testing; (ii)
data and outcome analysis; (iii) preparation of the outcome
report; (iv) entering into of production arrangement; (v) sourcing
of raw materials; (vi) possible marketing activities or pre-sales
preparation work; (vii) submission of the clinical trial report to
National Medical Products Administration; (viii) applying for the
new medicine certificate and the manufacturing permit.

The management of the Company is closely working with the
contract research organization (the “CRO”). The Part B of phase
[l clinical trials (the “Clinical Trial”) had registered in the Center
for Drug Evaluation, National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”) in October 2019.

The enrolment of the first batch of patients for the Clinical Trial
testing has commenced in July 2020. At the end of the Financial
Year, about 300 patients have been enrolled in selected
participating hospitals to take place in the Clinical Trial. The
enrolment of patients will be an ongoing process.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIPE st wm Mo

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development (continueq)

Due to various anti-epidemic measures for the coronavirus
pandemic outbreak, the normal operations of the participating
hospitals for the Clinical Trial had been severely disrupted. In
order to ensure the safety of patients and clinical researchers,
research projects such as the Clinical Trial had been temporarily
suspended and as result there had been a delay in the progress
of the Clinical Trial and timetable of the commercialization of the
Product. The following situations leading to the deviation from
the previous timetable.

a. Significant decrease in physician participation
in recruitment of patient due to the pandemic’s
impact

During the pandemic outbreak, hospitals and clinical
researchers had to shift their focus to COVID-19 response.
Physicians’ time and resources were redirected to
COVID-19 response, resulting in a significant decrease in
physician participation in patient recruitment. This also
required the trial team to spend more time and resources to
find suitable physicians for recruitment of patient.

b. Successful recruited patients dropped out due to
the inability to sustain supervision

During the pandemic, due to lockdown and restriction
measures, the patients were unable to receive sustained
supervision and treatment, leading to many successful
recruits dropping out of the Clinical Trial. This increased
the difficulty and complexity of the Clinical Trial and also
affected the reliability of the Clinical Trial results.

c. Difficulty in recruiting patient due to the limitation
of patient visits and the increase in medication
dosage

During the pandemic, hospitals increased medication
dosage for patients to reduce patient visits, considering the
limitation of patient visits. However, this also made it more
challenging to recruit the patient.

d. Severe interference with sample drug production
due to the pandemic’s impact

Due to the pandemic’s impact, many drug manufacturers
were unable to produce required sample drugs according
to the original plan, leading to interference with the Clinical
Trial’'s progress.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development (continueq)

Based on the latest information available to the Company and
subject to the development of COVID-19 epidemic, the Product
is expected to be launched in the market and available for sale

at selected hospitals by first quarter of 2025.

Set out below is the tentative timetable for commercialization of

the Product based on the latest information available:

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Event/action/milestone

Expected completion date

B4 178 BERHE a8 5E AL B
The selection and enrolment of patient Mid third quarter of 2023
BEMELAE T =FE=FEZF®H
The selection of hospital Mid third quarter of 2023
B8 “ToCFESFEEY
The execution of clinical trial testing Early of first quarter of 2024
TR IR 38R —E_NEE-FEFY

The data and outcome analysis

BN ER DT

First quarter of 2024
— =

—EONEE-FE

The preparation of the outcome report

Second quarter of 2024

B BE T HRET ML R

MBHERRE —EoMEE_FE
The entering into of an agreement in respect of the production Seoond quarter of 2024
arrangement TEINFEFE

The sourcing of raw materials from various suppliers for
production of the Product
NEREEXRZHEFEERMH

Second quarter of 2024

Possible marketing activities or pre-sales preparation work

BEEHADNBEESHEIIE

Second quarter of 2024
—E_NFEE_FE

The submission of the clinical trial report to NMPA
MEREEREXHBARABRTRS

End of second quarter of 2024
ZEIMFEE_FER

The application for the new medicine certificates
SEEE Tk

End of second quarter of 2024
— =

TECMFE_FER

The obtaining of the new medicine certificates
MSMERS

Late third quarter of 2024
—=

“ENEE=FEFK

The application for the manufacturing permit
PR R A B AT AT B

Late third quarter of 2024
TECNFE=FEFRK
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIPE st wm Mo

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development (continueq)

¥ O
& e

Event/action/milestone

Expected completion date

B8 TH BERER® FEHi5E A B #
The obtaining of the manufacturing permit Mid fourth quarter of 2024
RS B A B = LAl B

The Product is launched in the market and available for sale
at selected hospital
EmRmiGHEET NI EEBRIEE

First quarter of 2025
—E-RFE-FE

The Group is expected to generate a stable source of revenue
and profit after the launch of the Product taking into account
that (i) there is massive demand in the PRC for innovative
insulin products in light of the growing diabetic population; (ii)
once the Product is launched, it is expected to become the
first oral insulin drug available in the market; (i) the Product is
expected to be sold at a reasonable price range and will provide
a superior and effective treatment method for diabetes patients;
and (iv) once the Product is launched, it will be protected for
a period of 5 years under the current regulations in the PRC
which prohibits other companies from manufacturing and/or
undergoing clinical trial for similar products.

The Group will make further announcements depending on
situation and in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) if there is any material development.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2023 Annual Report

KREETIRE AEBRHERMBELHER
RELERTENWRARBF IR : ()ERIE
KREEABBIE  TEHEMRERE
mEmRARY: (NEmELR  BHEA™T
S EERORKREREY : ()ERBEHK
ZERERBEHNE  UHAEKKRESE
REBERFARHDEET I K(v)E m
— &M BRBPENRAERGBI R
FRIEH  PELREHEMBAREER,
ETRUEmOERR SR -

MHEREMERNER  AREBREBER
BRBBMAXIMERRARERLHR
AITEMRANDEHE-FRE °




BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company

The Company acquired 51% interest in the share capital of
Smart Ascent in the year of 2014. As part of the consideration
of the acquisition of Smart Ascent, on 28 July 2014, the
Company issued to Extrawell (the “Bondholder”) the convertible
bonds with 3.5% interest per annum for a conversion period
of 7 years from the date of issue in the principal amount of
HK$715,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”). The interest was
originally paid annually.

On 26 July 2019, the Company and the Bondholder entered
into the amendment deed (the “Amendment Deed”) in which
the Company and the Bondholder agreed to amend the interest
payment terms of the Convertible Bonds to the effect that i) the
payment of the interest payable in year of 2019 to year of 2021
would be made on or before the maturity date of the Convertible
Bonds, i.e. 28 July 2021 (the “Maturity Date”); and ii) additional
interest of HK$11,262,259 (the “Additional Interest”) would be
paid on 28 July 2021.

On 12 May 2021, the Company and the Bondholder entered
into the second deed of Amendment (the “Second Deed
of Amendment”) pursuant to which the Company and the
Bondholder agreed to amend the interest payment terms of the
Convertible Bonds to the effect that: (i) the interest payment due
dates was amended to payment of interest for the period from
28 July 2018 to 27 July 2023 on 28 July 2023; (ii) the Company
was required to pay to the Bondholder the additional interest in
the amount of HK$3,753,750 for one-year extension for payment
of interest for the year from 28 July 2021 to 27 July 2022 on
28 July 2023 and (i) the Company was required to pay the
Bondholder the additional interest of HK$25,900,875 on 28 July
2023.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIPE st wm Mo

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (continuea)
On 28 April 2023, the Company and the Bondholder entered
into a third deed of amendment (the “Third Deed Amendment”)
pursuant to which the Company and the Bondholder have
conditionally agreed to amend the terms of the Convertible
Bonds (as amended by the Amendment Deed) (the “Third
Amendment”) to the effect that:

(@ the Maturity Date shall be extended from 28 July 2023 to
28 July 2025;

(b) the interest date and interest payment date of the
Convertible Bonds (as amended by the First Deed of
Amendment and Second Deed of Amendment) shall be
further amended and superseded as follows:

()  the Convertible Bonds shall bear interest on the
principal amount thereof in accordance with the
following interest rate and payment schedule:

¥ O
ARABBITZUBKRES @
R-E-_=FEmHA=-_+NAR  ZXAFEE
FRBALE=HETZE(E=mHE
ARED BUHARRRESFFEEAER
166 48 P BB 46 2T AT 0 AR 1 35 2 R (A 4 1T
s E=kE:T]) B:

@ FHPER-—ZE-_=F+A-+NBIE
BE-_ZE-_RAF+A=-F+N\H:

(o) ABMBEZZHEBHENERH
F-DETRERFE _NHETRE
{ER]) T oA — FEFT RBRAMT:

() ATHRREFSERELASRE R
BT 5 R R A R R AT B

—E-\FtHA-+LH

Interest Period Interest Rate Payment due dates
NEHE A = AMAERA
28 July 2014 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of On or before 28 July
27 July 2015 the Convertible Bonds 2015
—E-MELAZTN\BE | BAURREF TS EAEETFI5% “T-RF
“E-RFtAZt++tH T AZ+A\B% A
28 July 2015 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of On or before 28 July
27 July 2016 the Convertible Bonds 2016
—T-AFtAZTNARE | BABAREF TS BAEETFI.5% —E-REF
—E-REtAZTtH Tt AZ+N\BHZA
28 July 2016 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of On or before 28 July
27 July 2017 the Convertible Bonds 2017
ZE-RELtAZTN\EBE | RABRKREFASBETHEEF35% —T—tF
—E-t+tHE+A-+T+tH Tt AZ+N\BHZA
28 July 2017 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of On or before 28 July
27 July 2018 the Convertible Bonds 2018
“EtLFLAZTN\BE | RUBREFAS BT ETF35% —T-)N\F

TAZtTA\BEZH
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continueq) %0 R )
Convertible bonds issued by the Company contives)y AATEITZABRKRES
(b)  (continued) (b) &)
(i)  (continued) n @&
Interest Period Interest Rate Payment due dates
HEHE F %= BB
28 July 2018 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of 28 July 2025
27 July 2019 the Convertible Bonds
ZZE-N\FELtAZTNBE | RABRREFAESEAETFIL5% —ThF
E—-NF+tHA=-++tA +AZ+N\R
28 July 2019 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of 28 July 2025
27 July 2020 the Convertible Bonds
:7E nﬁtﬂ—+ﬂﬁi BABRREFRRNEEFETEILS% “ThF
T LA+ +H +A=Z+N\RH
28 July 2020 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of 28 July 2025
27 July 2021 the Convertible Bonds
ZEZZEFLAZTN\RE | RUBRREFASEAETFEILS% —TRHF
—E-F+tA=+tA +AZ+N\R
28 July 2021 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of 28 July 2025
27 July 2022 the Convertible Bonds
T -FHAZHN\RE | RURREF TS EAEETEFI5% —E-RF
ZZ-Zf+HA=++H +AZ=+N\R
28 July 2022 to 3.5% per annum on the principal amount of 28 July 2025
27 July 2023 the Convertible Bonds
T ZFHAZTN\BE | RURREFFSEAETEI5% —T-hF
—E-=ftA=++tH +AZ+NR
28 July 2023 to 4.5% per annum on the principal amount of 28 July 2025
27 July 2024 the Convertible Bonds
ZEZ=HF+LAZHN\HE | RUBRREFASEAETF45% “T-RFEAZ+N\H
“E-WMFEELAZT LA
28 July 2024 to 4.5% per annum on the principal amount of 28 July 2025
27 July 2025 the Convertible Bonds
fvfmitﬂ TNARZE | BABRREFAEEFETF45% —ERFEAZTNH
—EZRF+AZT+H

Save for the Third Amendment, the terms and conditions of the K& = X{EEI5 - AT E S Z FTEIER
Convertible Bonds remain intact and unchanged. KGR TBRETE -

=HEBIREBEENR-_E-_=FExA=-1+N
E#%TTZJ‘]x%ﬁ%‘JK@t%Ttt}&°

The Third Deed Amendment was approved in special general
meeting held on 28 June 2023.

\
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PROSPECTS

Trading of beauty equipment and products

The major trading products of the Group are beauty equipment
and beauty products, and sales of these beauty equipment
and beauty products represent the major component that
contributes to the Group’s revenue.

Revenues and profit margins of the Group from the trading
segment have been relatively stable in the past and trading
volume is the key determiner of the profitability of the segment.
Following the anti-epidemic measures were released and the
economic activities return to normal. The Group anticipates
that the trading business will pick up gradually. The Group will
cautiously explore the trading business in Hong Kong and China.
The Group will reinforce our risk management policy and will
proactive in adopting timely measures to balance its risk and
return in the long run. The Group competes by offering trading
terms that are more favourable to its suppliers and vendors
compared to the Group’s competitors.

Research and development

The Clinical Trial testing of the Product for the first group
has commenced in July 2020. Due to the outbreak of the
coronavirus pandemic and the lockdown of Shanghai and
areas nearby, the timetable for obtaining the Certificate of New
Medicine and the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Permit, subject
to the development of COVID-19 epidemic and the approval
of NMPA, and generating revenue of the Product has been
adjusted from the late fourth quarter of 2023 and mid of 2024 to
late third quarter of 2024 and first quarter of 2025, respectively.

To further ensure that the Product will be able to commercialise
by first quarter of 2025, the Group will work closely with the
CRO and strengthen the project team so that relevant personnel
of the project team will regularly monitor the progress and make
regular reports to the management of the Company so as to
ensure the In-process R&D can be completed according to the
Group’s schedule.

14 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital structure

Authorised: JETE

50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEE DT uﬁﬂ& W/f

Bt 75 2] B
ERERE

31 March
2023
g

— = =

31 March
2022
—=E_—
=Z=HA=t+—H
HK$°000
TE T

=HA=+-—H
HK$’000
FHET

50,000,000,000 % & f% H {50.01

HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) BT (TiRm)) 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITREHT:
1,464,193,024 Shares 1,464,193,024 1% % 15 14,642 14,642
Liquidity and financial resources RBEETRMKEER
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank and cash balances R-Z-_=F=A=+—H XNEE KT
of approximately HK$1.3 million (31 March 2022: approximately &8 & 4 2 4941,300,000/8 Tt (=T = —
HK$4.1 million). F=HA=-+—H:%4,100,000% 7T) °

As at 31 March 2023, total borrowings of the Group
were approximately HK$1,236.5 million (31 March 2022:
approximately HK$987.6 million) which reflected the debt
value of the Company’s unconverted convertible bonds, lease
liabilities, amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts
due to former non-controlling interest, loan from a substantial
shareholder, amount due to a former associate, loan from a
former associate and loan from a non-controlling interest.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities of the Group was
0.01 as at 31 March 2023 as compared to the 0.19 as at 31
March 2022. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2023 was
0.90 (31 March 2022: 0.72) which is calculated based on the
Group’s total liabilities of approximately HK$1,243.5 million (31
March 2022: approximately HK$999.7 million) and the Group’s
total assets of approximately HK$1,384.0 million (31 March 2022:
approximately HK$1,395.0 million).

The Group places importance on security, short-term
commitment, and availability of the surplus cash and cash
equivalents.

R-ZE-_=F=A=1+—H AEBZ2#&
8 & 4 /31,236,500,0008 ;T (ZFE = Z4F
=HA=+—8: #)987,600,000%&T) ' R
ZA/N ﬂZ*%Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘Hxﬁ%Z%ﬁiF@

MERE - B IFERER IR - BAA

FEREREFE KB UETERRE

R EAATEE AR 2 5R - KERBE
EXRREFEREDZER -

AEBR_ZE-_ZF=ZA=Z+—HBZR
BEEHRHARZLE A0 MR
—E - _F=ZA=+—HEB|A019 - K
EER-_T-_=F=A=+t—HZENR
BELRAE0O(CE-_—_F=A=+—
H:072) NRBEAEBZEERLBELY
1 243,500,000 T (ZE-_—F=A=+—

: #7999,700,0008 ) A E B 2 B &E
ﬁ%%ﬁ%@1,384,000,000;‘%ﬁ(:%@::ﬁz

A=+—H: #1,395,000,000/& ) 5t & -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIPE st wm Mo

FINANCIAL REVIEW (coniinueq)

Significant acquisition and investments
The Group had no significant investments, nor had it made any
material acquisition or disposal of the Group’s subsidiaries or
associated companies during the Financial Period.

Charges on the Group’s assets
As at 31 March 2023, the Group and the Company did not have
any charges on their assets (31 March 2022: nil).

Foreign exchange exposure

The monetary assets and liabilities and businesses of the Group
are mainly conducted in Hong Kong Dollars, Renminbi, and
United States Dollars. The Group maintains a prudent strategy
in its foreign exchange risk management, with the foreign
exchange risk being minimised through balancing the foreign
currency monetary assets against foreign currency monetary
liabilities, and foreign currency revenue against foreign currency
expenditure. The Group did not use any financial instruments to
hedge against foreign currency risk during the Financial Year.
The Group will continue to monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and consider hedging foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Number and numeration of employees

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 22 full time employees
(81 March 2022: 25), most of whom work in the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC. It is the Group’s policy that the
remuneration of employees and Directors are in line with
the market and commensurate with their responsibilities.
Discretionary year- end bonuses are payable to the employees
based on individual performance. Other employee benefits
include medical insurance, retirement schemes, training
programmes, and education subsidies.

Total staff costs including the Directors’ remuneration for
the Financial Year amounts to approximately HK$6.3 million
(Previous Financial Year: approximately HK$7.2 million).

Segment information
Details of the segment information are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. All
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-
compliance was noted by the Company in the Financial Year.

Tang Rong
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Management Profile

EEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, aged 68, has been appointed as an
executive director with effect from 4 January 2016. From 15
March 2011 to 4 January 2016, Mr. Gao was the chairman and
executive director of North Mining Shares Company Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Gao previously worked in the foreign affairs office of
the Shanghai Municipal Government, and has had senior
management roles in numerous international, PRC investment,
and commercial companies.

Mr. Tang Rong, aged 56, has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 29 September 2014. Mr. Tang
graduated from Fudan University in the People’s Republic
of China in July 1989 with a bachelor’s degree in science,
majoring in genetics and genetic engineering. He has been
an engineer of The Institute of Genetics of Fudan University
from November 1989 and has extensive experience in genetics
related technology development, commercialization and market
development. Mr. Tang successfully filed several patents in
China and published papers in many science magazines in
genetics related subjects. He was invited as the member of the
Committee of Experts of /88 RE AR F#FbT (Shanghai
Lianzhong Institute of Gene Technology) in 2000. Starting from
November 2010, Mr. Tang was appointed as the director of Gene
Testing Research and Development Department of Longmark
(Shanghai) Healthcare Limited and he has professional expertise
in gene testing and research and development.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jiang Nian, aged 69, has been appointed as a non-
executive director and chairman of the Company with effect
from 21 December 2010 and 10 June 2011 respectively. Ms.
Jiang is a member of the remuneration committee and the
chairman of nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Jiang
graduated from ZHEREBREKREEEHRFEE (Junior College,
Provincial Campus of Anhui Radio and Television University) in
August 1986, majoring in Chinese Language and Literature. Ms.
Jiang was the Associate Dean of the School of Life Sciences of
Fudan University from June 2003 to April 2010. She also serves
as an authorised representative of Bt & EE £ E L AR A A
(United Gene Biomedical Limited). She has extensive experience
in general administrative management particularly in the field of
genomic research.
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Ms. Xiao Yan, aged 43, has been appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 22 May 2012. Ms. Xiao graduated
from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics with a
bachelor’s degree in Accounting in 2007. Ms. Xiao has served
as an administrative manager of the chief executive, Dr. Xie,
in BEAERARHBER AT (United Gene Technology Holdings
Limited) since 2002. Ms. Xiao has extensive experience in
medical services and general administration. From December
2011 to November 2012, she served as the finance manager
of CNL (Pinghu), which is an indirectly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Ms. Wu Yanmin, aged 46, has been appointed as a non-
executive director with effect from 8 June 2011. Ms. Wu
graduated from the School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University
in 1999 with a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry. Ms. Wu joined
A ERER B ARADA (United Gene Technology Holdings
Limited), a genetic engineering company substantially owned by
Dr. Mao Yumin (“Dr. Mao”) indirectly, in 2001 and was responsible
for general administrative duties. Since 2006, Ms. Wu has served
as an assistant to the chairman of United Gene Holdings Limited,
and is responsible for assisting the chairman in handling various
investment projects. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in general
administrative and investment management. Starting from
December 2012, she was appointed as the finance manager of
CNL (Pinghu).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chen Weijun, aged 65, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 6 November
2009 and is the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company. Ms. Chen is currently the manager in the business
department of Shanghai Ruihe Certified Public Accountants Co.,
Ltd.. She was formerly the finance supervisor of the companies
indirectly owned by Dr. Mao from April 2001 to June 2003. She
graduated from the Chinese Communist Party Central Party
College and has been a registered accountant in the PRC since
2005. She has more than 30 years of experience in accounting,
finance and audit services.

Mr. Wang Rongliang, aged 74, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 8 June
2011 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Wang graduated from E£/8ME % — B T X2 (Shanghai
First Commercial Bureau Staff College) majoring in business
and economics. He acted as a deputy manager of /8t H%E
E fE 4 A PR A a (Shanghai 700 Group Advertising Company
Limited) from 1996 to 2005. Mr. Wang has extensive experience
in operation and administrative management.
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Management Profile
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Mr. Chen Jinzhong, aged 58, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 1 February
2021 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company,
Mr. Chen holds a bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from
the Central South University and a master’s degree in genetics
from the Huazhong University of Science and Technology. He
obtained his Doctor of Philosophy degree in genetics from
Fudan University. He was an assistant professor at Changjiang
University from 1991 to 1998 and an assistant professor at
Fudan University from 2004 to 2006. He has been an associate
professor at Fudan University from 2006 and up to the present.
Mr. Chen has over 25 years of experience in the genetics field
and in research and development.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship between
any members of the Board, and no information relating to the
directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules
13.51(2) and 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT

Mr. Poon Hon Yin, aged 57, has been appointed as the
company secretary, financial controller and an authorised
representative of the Company with effect from 14 May 2013.
On 20 June 2023, Mr. Poon has been appointed as independent
non-executive director of Yu Tak International Holdings Limited,
a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 8048). Mr. Poon is qualified as a Certified
Public Accountant registered with the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is also a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Poon has
been a managing director of Probiz CPA Limited since 20086.
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External Consultant Profile

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Dr. Mao Yumin, aged 71, has been engaged as the chief
scientific adviser and honorary chairman of the Company since
1 September 2010, responsible for providing advisory and
consultancy services to the Group in relation to the research
and development of its genetic testing products and other
scientific technologies. Dr. Mao is a substantial shareholder of
the Company. He was a member of the Consultant Committee
of Fudan University, the dean of the School of Life Sciences
and Institute of Genetics of Fudan University, and the director
of State Key Laboratory of Genetic Engineering in Fudan
University. Dr. Mao’s main area of research focuses on biological
and genetic engineering. Dr. Mao has accumulated extensive
experiences in operations in the genomic research based
industry.
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Corporate Governance Report
REREE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and firmly believes that maintaining a
good, solid and sensible framework of corporate governance
will help ensure that the Company’s business is run in the best
interests of its shareholders as a whole.

During the Financial Year, the Company adopted and has
complied with all the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
(the “Code”) except for the deviations discussed below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions. All directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-compliance
was noted by the Company in the Financial Year. Relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidance on no less exacting terms than the Model
Code throughout the Financial Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board during the Financial Year are set
out below:

Executive directors
Mr. Gao Yuan Xing
Mr. Tang Rong

Non-executive directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Mr. Chen Jinzhong

Further details of the composition of the Board are set out in the
section headed “Management Profile” on pages 18 to 20.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board considers the balance between executive directors
and non-executive directors is adequate to safeguard the
Shareholders’ interests. Independent non-executive directors
can also provide the Group with diversified expertise and
valuable experience. Their independent advice can bring
independent judgment to the decision making of the Board and
bring new ideas to the formulation of corporate strategy.

The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent
non-executive directors that represent at least one-third of
the Board, such that there is always a strong element of
independence on the Board which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. Each independent non-executive
director is required to provide an annual confirmation of his
independence to the Company and the nomination committee
of the Company is responsible to assess the independence and
time commitment of each independent non-executive director at
least annually.

All the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are given equal opportunity and channels to
communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the
Group in order to make informed decisions. To facilitate proper
discharge of their duties, all the directors are entitled to seek
advice from the company secretary of the Company or, upon
reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense. The chairman of the Board will hold
meetings with the independent non-executive directors without
the involvement of other directors at least annually to discuss
any issues and concerns.

Any director or his associate who has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by
a physical Board meeting rather than by written resolutions.
Such director will be required to declare his interests before the
meeting and abstain from voting and not counted towards the
quorum on the relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive
directors who, and whose associates, have no interest in the
matter should attend the Board meeting.
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The directors oversee the financial performance and formulate
business strategies and determine the corporate governance
policy of the Group, as well as discuss any significant matters
relating to the Group at the Board meetings. Daily operational
matters are delegated to the management of the Group. The
Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company and considers and approves the
overall strategies and policies of the Group. During the Financial
Year, the Board held 4 meetings. The attendance of each
member at the Board meeting is set out as follows:

Executive directors BITES

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R B A

Mr. Tang Rong BB EAE
Non-executive directors FHITES

Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman) BEwt(EE)
Ms. Xiao Yan Bk 2+

Ms. Wu Yanmin SRR d 2zt
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

directors

Ms. Chen Weijun PRIZA X+

Mr. Wang Rongliang TERBRE

Mr. Chen Jinzhong PREFEE

All directors, including independent non-executive directors,
have given sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group.

Code provision C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 stipulate that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

Ms. Jiang Nian is the chairman of the Group. As at the date of
this annual report, no suitable candidate for the role of chief
executive officer has been identified and the role remains
vacant. The Company is continually looking for a suitable person
to assume this role.
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INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training

All directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities
as directors and of the business and activities of the Group. As
such, briefings are provided and organised to ensure that newly
appointed directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties and responsibilities as director as well as
the business and corporate governance practices of the Group.

Pursuant to Code C.1.4 of the Code, directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. For the
period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023, all directors have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending training or reading material
relevant to the Company’s business or to the directors’ duties
and responsibilities.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, trainings received by each
director are summarised as follows:

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R %k &
Mr. Tang Rong EREE
Ms. Jiang Nian Bzt
Ms. Xiao Yan ERo un
Ms. Wu Yanmin SRR B+
Ms. Chen Weijun PRIEE 2+
Mr. Wang Rongliang FRBREE
Mr. Chen Jinzhong PRE P EE
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee was set up on 30
June 2008. The majority of the members of the Remuneration
Committee shall be independent non-executive directors.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(@) to advise the Shareholders on whether the terms of service
contracts that require the Shareholder’s approval are fair
and reasonable;

(b) to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure;

(c) to establish guidelines for recruitment of members of the
senior management;

(d) to determine the remuneration of members of the senior
management; and

(e) to formulate remuneration policy and make recommendations
to the Board on annual remuneration review.

Remuneration of the directors and senior management is reviewed
and fixed by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to
the market benchmarks and industry norms, and their duties
and responsibilities in the Group, having regard to the expertise,
performance and experience possessed by individual directors.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held. The work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 March 2023
includes but not limited to (i) review the remuneration policy
for the year ended 31 March 2023; (ii) review the remuneration
package of the directors including the remuneration of the
independent non-executive director who was renewed the
service contact during the year (iii) review the terms of reference
of Remuneration Committee, make recommendation on the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management for
Board’s approval. The attendance of each member at the
committee meeting is set out as follows:

Non-executive director FHITES

Ms. Jiang Nian BFEZL

Independent non-executive directors BYFHITES

Mr. Wang Rongliang TERBRE
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) (FWZEe

Mr. Chen Jinzhong PREFEE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 16 March 2012.

The major role and function of the Nomination Committee are to
formulate and implement the policy for nominating candidates
for consideration by the Board and election by shareholders,
review the structure, size and composition of the Board with due
regard to Board diversity, and to assess the independence of
non-executive directors.
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The Nomination Committee adopted a board diversity policy that
set out the Group’s approach to diversify members of the Board
and the Group holds the view that this board diversity policy
will lead to a Board with diverse perspectives. Factors that will
be considered in the assessment of the diversity of a director’s
perspective include, but are not limited to, gender, age, culture,
skill, knowledge, educational background and professional
experience. Presently, the Board comprises of eight directors,
of which three are independent non-executive directors, with
significant diversity in gender, age, professional experience,
educational and cultural background, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
guiding the nomination criteria and procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorship.

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of
nomination criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship or proposed re-appointment of
a retiring director, including but not limited to: the skills,
knowledge and experience possessed by the candidate or
retiring director which are relevant to the Group’s business,
corporate development and strategy; the diversity perspectives
set out in the Board Diversity Policy and the balance of skills
and experience in board composition; the level of independence
from the Company and compliance of the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules; and such other factors the Nomination
Committee may consider relevant to enhancement of the
effectiveness of the Board.

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s bye-laws, where the
Nomination Committee determines that an additional director
or a replacement director is required, it may take appropriate
steps in connection with the identification and evaluation of a
suitable candidate for directorship. The Nomination Committee
may deploy channels including referral from directors, advisers
of the Company and external executive search firms in the
identification process, evaluate a candidate based on the
nomination criteria stated above, and make recommendation for
the Board’s consideration and approval.

For re-appointment of a retiring director, the Nomination
Committee reviews his/her service to the Company, the level of
participation on the Board during his/her term, and after taking
into account the nomination criteria, recommends to the Board
for proposed re-appointment of the retiring director who wishes
to stand for re-election at the Company’s general meeting.
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The Nomination Committee may also propose to the Board
a candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to the
Board, if it evaluates that the candidate meets the nomination
criteria. The procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a director are published in the Company’s
website.

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of directors. On accepting the recommendation
made by the Nomination Committee, the Board may (as the case
may be) appoint the candidate as director to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board and recommend the candidate to
shareholders for election or re-election (for a retiring director) at
the general meeting.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, one meeting of Nomination
Committee was held to review the composition of the Board
and its committees as well as the background and experiences
of the Board members, evaluate the contributions of the Board
members to the Board diversity, make recommendation to
the Board on the re-appointment of Directors, evaluate the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, and
review the board diversity policy. The attendance of each
member at the committee meeting is set out as follows:
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is composed of three independent non-executive
directors. At least one of the members of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under the
Listing Rules.

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(@) to serve as a focal point for communication between the
directors and external auditors;

(b) to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review with the management of the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group,
and supervision of financial reporting, and monitoring and

reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and the adequacy of the external audit;

to review the appointment of external auditors on an
annual basis as well as to ensure continuing auditors
independence;

to develop and monitor the applications of the policies on
the engagement of the external auditors to perform other
professional services (other than tax-related services); and

(e) to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Financial
Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, three meetings of the
Audit Committee were held. The work performed by Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2023 includes but
not limited to (i) reviewing annual results and annual report
of for the year ended 31 March 2022, interim results and
interim report for the 6 months ended 30 September 2022; (ii)
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group; (iii) reviewing the continuing
connected transactions; (iv) considering the re-appointment of
external auditor of the Company; (v) reviewing the resources
of accounting and financial reporting functions of the Group;
and (vi) reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function.
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The attendance of each member at the committee meeting is set
out as follows:

Ms. Chen Weijun PRIEE =+
(Chairman of the Audit Committee) (BEEZEZ

Mr. Wang Rongliang FEREREA

Mr. Chen Jinzhong PR & % 4

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of the annual reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosure
required by the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The management of the Company has provided such
explanation and information to the Board as necessary to enable
the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the financial
information and position of the Group in order to put forward
such information to the Board for approval.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Company’s independent auditor Elite Partners CPA
Limited (the “Auditor”) issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidation financial statements of the Group, details of which
are set out in the independent auditor’s report.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties related to going concern

As discussed in note 3(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred operating
cash outflow of approximately HK$17,640,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$1,137,161,000 as at 31 March 2023. As the same date,
the Group’s convertible bonds, loans from a substantial
shareholder and loan from a former associate amounted
to HK$1,036,312,000, HK$51,000,000 and HK$6,007,000
respectively would be due for repayment within the next 12
months, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$1,331,000 only.

In addition, the Group’s major assets, being the development
of oral insulin product in the PRC, is currently under the stage
of Phase Ill clinical trial (“Clinical Trial”), the validity of future
cash flow arising from the commercialisation of the oral insulin
product is depending on the successful of the Clinical Trial
and obtaining the necessary approval from National Medical
Products Administration. The management expected the oral
insulin product will be launched in the first quarter of 2025.

These conditions, together with other matters described in
note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of a multiple uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking certain
measures to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and to
improve its financial position, which are set out in note 3(a) to
the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of the going concern assumption is dependent on
the outcome of these measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties including whether (i) successful to complete the
Clinical Trail and the oral insulin product to be launched in the
first quarter of 2025; (ii) successful on renewal the maturity of
the convertible bonds with bondholder; (iii) new financing will
be obtained to support its Clinical Trial; and (iv) successful on
renewal the maturity of the loan with substantial shareholder
and loan from a former associate. As a result of there multiple
uncertainties, the potential interaction of these uncertainties,
and the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable
to form an opinion as to whether the going concern basis of
preparation is appropriate, (the “Disclaimer Opinion”).
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Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

MANAGEMENT’S POSITION AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE AUDITOR’S
DISCLAIMER OPINION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have considered the future liquidity of the
Group, including but not limited to the followings:

()  The Group has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,137,161,000 as at 31 March 2023 and incurred
operating cash outflow of approximately HK$17,640,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023 while cash and cash
equivalents amount to HK$1,331,000 only;

(i) The Group has outstanding convertible bonds with
principal amounts of HK$971,000,000 to be mature in July
2023, October 2023 and December 2023 respectively;

(i) The Group has outstanding loans from a substantial
shareholder and loan from a former associate amounted
to HK$51,000,000 and HK$6,007,000 would be due for
repayment within the next 12 months; and

(iv) The Group’s major assets, being the development of oral
insulin product in the PRC, is currently under the stage of
Phase Il clinical trial (“Clinical Trial”), the validity of future
cash flow arising from the commercialisation of the oral
insulin product is depending on the successful of the
Clinical Trial and obtaining the necessary approval from
National Medical Products Administration.

As the result of these multiple uncertainties, their interaction,
and the possible cumulative effect thereof, the Auditor were
unable to form an opinion as to whether the going concern of
preparation is appropriate.
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In view of the uncertainties relating to going concern, the
directors of the Company have undertaken a number of plans
and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial
position, including: -

()  The Company obtained a confirmation from the Group’s
former associate and confirm in written that they will not
demand for repayment of approximately HK$41,947,000 of
amount to a former associate and HK$6,007,000 of loan
from a former associate as at 31 March 2023 for a period
of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

(i)  The Company obtained the financial support of the
substantial shareholder and confirm in written that they
will not demand for the loan of HK$51,000,000 as at 31
March 2023 for a period of at least 12 months from the
date of approval of these financial statements and agreed
to provide the Company with sufficient financial support to
enable the Company to meet its obligations to third parties
as and when they fall due and to continue as a going
concern.

(i)  The management of the Company is currently working on
the Clinical Trial which has been commenced in July 2020
and around 300 patients have been selected and enrolled
in the Clinical Trial as at 31 March 2023. The management
is making every effort to achieve the expected timeline that
the oral insulin product will be launched in the first quarter
of 2025. As at the date of this report, there is no negative
feedback from the Clinical Trial. The Group performs annual
tests of impairment on intangible asset and no impairment
is required.

(iv) The Company is actively negotiating with the convertible
bondholders for renewal the maturity of the convertible
bonds.

(v)  The management of the Company is looking for other
financing and borrowing opportunity.

(vij On 28 April 2023, the Company and Extrawell
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (“Extrawell”), the former
associate of the Company, entered into the third deed of
amendment pursuant to which the Company and Extrawell
have conditionally agreed to amend the terms of the
convertible bonds to the effect that: (i) the Maturity Date
shall be extended from the original maturity date to 28 July
2025; and (i) the interest payment date of the convertible
bonds shall be further amended (the “Third Deed of
Amendment”).
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The Third Deed of Amendment was approved in special general
meeting held on 28 June 2023.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the Group’s
current and forecasted cash positions, the directors of the
Company are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in
full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for the
period of twelve months from the date of consolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether management of the Company will be able to implement
the abovementioned plans and measures. Whether the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern would depend on
the Group’s ability to generate financial and operating cash flows
through the following: -

(i)  Successful to complete the Clinical Trial and the Product
have launch in the first quarter of 2025; and

(i)  Successful negotiation with the bondholders of the
convertible bond for renewal the maturity of the convertible
bonds.

Should the above measures not be implemented as planned, the
adoption of going concern basis may not be appropriate, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts
and reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

The Group will implement the measures and plans as set out
above in order to resolving its liquidity problem. It endeavors
to resolve the Disclaimer Opinion issue in the next financial
year. However, as mentioned above, there are still uncertainties
as to whether the Group will be able to implement the plans
and measures successfully. If any of plans or measures fail to
implement, the going concern issue will subsist and the timing of
removing the Disclaimer Opinion may be delayed.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW ON THE
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Audit Committee has reviewed the management’s position
and assessment concerning the Disclaimer Opinion and
concurred with the position of the management to the Disclaimer
Opinion and the basis thereof.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditor is Elite Partners CPA Limited. For
the Financial Year, the auditor of the Company had performed
audit services and their remuneration in respect of audit services
was HK$950,000.

There was no non-audit services provided by the auditor of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the Code:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

() to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report (the
“Corporate Governance Report”).

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests, and to review the
effectiveness of such systems regularly. The risk management
and internal control systems include defined management
structure with limits of authority set at various levels, which is
designed to safeguard assets, ensure the maintenance of proper
records, provide reliable financial information for internal use or
publication, and ensure compliance with regulations. During the
Financial Year, the Board has conducted an annual review of the
internal control procedures of the Group and consider the risk
management and internal control systems to be adequate and
effective.
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The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an
outsourced internal audit team, which reports directly to the
Audit Committee.

The report provided internal audit findings and any action
to be taken by management as a result. These findings and
recommendations for improvement will be communicated
to the respective management for their responses and
corrective actions. The Group’s management team monitors
the implementation of its recommendations and reports the
outcome to the Audit Committee.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Code provision F.1.1 stipulate that the Company should
have a policy on payment of dividends. The Company has not
established a dividend policy as the Company considers it more
appropriate to determine a dividend payment after taking into
account those factors including the Company’s then financial
performance, operating and capital requirements and market
conditions, to enable the Company be in a better position to
cope with its future development, which is to the best interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Hon Yin is the Company Secretary and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
reports to the Chairman and is responsible for advising the
Board on governance matters. Mr. Poon has taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.

BOARD DIVERSITY

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the
high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the
board diversity policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board. Pursuant to
board diversity policy, we seek to achieve board diversity by
taking into consideration of various factors, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender,
age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length of
service with the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the
diversity of the Board members. The Nomination Committee
will review the board diversity policy and the diversity profile
(including gender balance) from time to time to ensure its
continued effectiveness. We will also disclose in the corporate
governance report about the implementation of the board
diversity policy on an annual basis.
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We are also committed to adopting similar approach to promote
diversity, including but not limited to gender diversity, at all other
levels of the Company from the Board downwards to enhance
the effectiveness of the corporate governance as a whole. For
the year ended 31 March 2023, the workforce of the Company,
including senior management, totalling 22 employees, of which
approximately 55% are male and 45% are female. The Board
considers that it has sufficient diversity in terms of gender.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(i) Procedures for convening of a special general
meeting and putting forward proposals at

shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general
meetings. Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition (the “Written Requisition”)
to the Board or the Secretary of the Company at the
principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company
(at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong),
to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, an annual
general meeting shall be called by a written notice of not
less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days and any special general
meeting at which the passing of a special resolution is to
be considered shall be called by a written notice of not less
than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days. Business day under the Listing Rules
means any day on which the Stock Exchange is open for
business of dealing in securities.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
accordance with the provision of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Procedures for directing enquiries to the
Company

To direct enquiries to the Board, Shareholders should
submit his/her/its enquiries in writing with contact details
(including, registered name, address and telephone
number, etc.) to the Company Secretary at the following:

By post to the head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong.

Tel: (852) 2598 6818
Fax: (852) 2598 6628

Matters relating to share registration

For share registration related matters, such as share
transfer and registration, change of name and address
of Shareholders, loss of share certificates or dividend
warrants, Shareholders can contact the Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office at the following:

17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong)
Tel: (852) 2810 8185

Fax: (852) 2980 1333

Procedures for a shareholder to propose a

person for election as a director

Subject to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Shareholders may from time to time in general meeting by
Ordinary Resolution elect any person to be a director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director.

Shareholder(s) may propose a person other than an
existing director of the Company for election as a director
at a general meeting. The Shareholder(s) must deposit a
written notice (the “Notice”) to the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

The Shareholder(s) must prove his/her/their shareholding in
the Company.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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The Notice must be signed by the Shareholder(s) (other
than a person to be proposed) and shall be accompanied
by the following information and documents:

— the full name and the contact information of the
Shareholder(s);

— the contact details, age and the full name of the
person proposed for election as a director of the
Company;

— biographical details of the person proposed for
election as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules;

— letter of consent signed by the person proposed to be
elected that he or she consents to be director of the
Company, if elected.

The Notice and the abovementioned information
and documents must be lodged with the Company
commencing from the day after despatch of the notice of
the general meeting and ending no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company endeavours to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping Shareholders, investors, analysts,
bankers and other stakeholders informed of its corporate
strategies and business operations has been one of the key
objectives of its investor relations team.

CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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The directors hereby submit their report with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year.

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (as revised) of the Cayman lIslands and continued in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability in
accordance with the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit No. 2111,
21/F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 March 2023 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 17 of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks
and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are
not known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.
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Business Risk

Certain of the business segments in which the Group operates
are subject to the overall economic growth of the PRC, which
is subject to ever-changing economic policy changes of the
PRC government. Any adverse changes in economic policies of
the PRC government could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business.

The valuation of the intangible asset of the Group is tied to the
Group’s ability to successfully complete the development and
commercialisation of the Product and the policy of medical
examination and the medical policy. As at the date of this report,
the Product is still in the research and development stage,
uncertainty as to when the product can be launched exits. In
addition, commercialisation is subject to uncertainty and risks
arising from the results of the clinical trial of the Product and the
assessment of the National Medical Products Administration.
These factors may be beyond the control of the Group. Any
delay or failure in the Group’s ability to do so may adversely
affect the Group’s business and financial performance.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks
basically rests with every function at divisional and departmental
levels. The Group recognises that operational risks cannot
be eliminated completely and that it may not always be cost
effective to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The
Group will identify and assess key operational exposures from
time to time and report such risk issues to senior management
as early as possible so that appropriate risk response can be
taken.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2023 Annual Report

EBE R
AREBEEZETEB D EBAS
ROERRERS - MERLEERIR
BRAFTEHZNEBERRES - 7E
BT BB R AN ZEF ] se W AR &
BEBERERTMEE -

AEBELEEZGEDERNEEKI T
ﬁi?ﬁ&Z%ﬁ?X&?ﬁ¥1tE’\]ﬁ€ﬂﬂqﬂﬂ’ﬁ%
YMEFREBFEOBRRE SRR - RARS
B Euu%ﬁﬁ(‘ﬁﬁ%’“‘ﬁﬂﬁx*?ﬁﬁ%&ﬂjz
F ] 1) I T OE Jit?l\ CEmNEREE
% EE on i R B K2 %1%%’;%‘%@%
‘H&,%*%LEJZE’JTTJE TN R B &

BRI = Al gE I FF AN SR 8 A4E I o $‘§l
BHERIRERARCNTATEESLRX
MATRE B AN R B X R M R\ ERTF

=
-7 °

&EE

2ERRIERNIERF ABSHES
KR K &I?\\*ﬁ%#%ﬁlZT@%ﬂﬁw :
BEEERR 2 EEER ERAEENE
DEREFIBE - AEERER - 2ERAR
T2 HM - BERARN THERSE
ERAR A 5 o

AEBZIBNEHOURGZEBRERF
RER N E AT IR D45 5] AN BG83

BRI EETELERR TEEASHRE
BEERZERKRERE  UWEKRIUESR
% JE T i o

B % [ B

AEBE KRR EEH LG A M RRN
uf32 )



RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 56 to 57. The directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Financial
Year. There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

The state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 58
to 59.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 60 to 61. There were no
distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2023 (31
March 2022: Nil).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the convertible bonds issued by the Group are set out
in note 26 to consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Financial Year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Gao Yuan Xing
Mr. Tang Rong

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, Mr. Tang Rong and Ms. Jiang Nian are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Mr. Chen Jinzhong

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, one third of
the directors for the time being shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr.
Tang Rong, Mr. Wang Rongliang and Mr. Chen Jinzhong shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting had a service contract that was not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the directors and senior
management are set out on pages 18 to 20 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of the
directors, chief executive of the Company or their associates in
any Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which is otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Name of director Capacity

ESHR

)

Tang Rong Beneficial owner
fE R EanEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
directors, chief executive of the Company nor their associates
had any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required to be recorded in the register by the Company
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which is
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any time
during the Financial Year, nor was there any other contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the Financial
Year.
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EFQHE

FTERRREMBALTREOR
HERDz2EZR AR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, the register of interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
kept under Section 336 of the SFO showed that, the following
entities had an interest or deemed interest of 5% or more in the
issued share capital of the Company:

R-CZE-=F=A=+—B REZEHK
HI G & P 336K FE 2 AR M) M8
ki zEm AR ELMAE  THE
BRARRDETRATHEB LR S
B5%sk LA EHES

RAEQXFERTREAZER

Long positions in the issued share capital of the

46

Company
Number of Percentage of
shares/  Long (L) or the issued
underlying Short (S) share capital of
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held position the Company
RN
BEEZRG/ BRI
RREH g4 HBEROHE REBD
Dr. Mao Yumin (note 1) Beneﬂ‘cial owner 1,147,200,000 L 78.35%
EREEL (M) EakAA
Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 5.65%
REHEE 2 #as
United Gene Holdings Limited (note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 5.65%
BeERZERERRR (M) SEGEE E s
Dr. Xie Yi (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 5.65%
B AL (E2) REHEE B R
Ease Gold Investments Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 82,770,810 L 5.65%
(note 2) (F1E2) REHEE 2
Good Links Limited (note 3) (K #£3) Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 L 0.53%
REGEE 2 #aH
Victory Trend Limited (note 3) (K 7£3) Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 L 0.53%
REHER 2R
Best Champion Holdings Limited (note 4)  Interest of a controlled corporation 7,770,810 L 0.53%
SUEZRA R AR (M 4) XEHEE 2 B
China United Gene Investment Beneficial owner 7,770,810 L 0.53%
Holdings Limited ERBEAA
(note 5) (Fff 55)
Chau Yiu Ting Beneficial owner 328,600,000 L 22.44%
JE] 1B BE ExHAA
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Notes:

1. These include (i) 323,200,000 ordinary shares held by Dr. Mao directly;
(i) 824,000,000, 55,000,000 and 20,000,000 derivative shares held by
Dr. Mao, JNJ Investments Limited (“JNJ”) and United Gene International
Holdings Group Limited respectively, which shall be issued by the
Company upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$359,600,000
issued by the Company. JNJ is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
United Gene Group Limited, which is in turn owned as to 33% by United
Gene Holdings Limited. United Gene International Holdings Group Limited
is wholly-owned by JNJ; (iii) 7,770,810 ordinary shares held through China
United Gene Investment Holdings Limited, which is held as to 60% by
Best Champion Holdings Limited, and which is in turn held as to 33.5%
and 33% by United Gene Holdings Limited and Victory Trend Limited
respectively. Victory Trend Limited is wholly owned by Good Links Limited.
United Gene Holdings Limited and Good Links Limited are 100% and 50%
held by Dr. Mao respectively.

2. Ease Gold Investments Limited, is wholly-owned by Dr. Xie Yi (“Dr. Xie”),
which owns 33.50% and 33% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings
Limited and United Gene Group Limited respectively.

3. Victory Trend Limited is wholly-owned by Good Links Limited, which is in
turn owned as to 50% by Dr. Mao and as to 50% by Dr. Xie. Victory Trend
Limited owns 33.00% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings Limited.

4. The equity interest of Best Champion Holdings Limited is owned as to
33.50%, 33.50% and 33.00% by United Gene Holdings Limited, Ease
Gold Investments Limited and Victory Trend Limited, respectively.

58 China United Gene Investment Holdings Limited is owned as to 60% by
Best Champion Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the directors were not aware of any
other relevant interests or short positions of 5% or more in the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director confirming his/
her independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related parties transactions entered into by
the Group during the Financial Year is contained in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The following transactions between certain connected persons
(as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group have been
entered into during the Financial Year and/or are ongoing for
which relevant announcements, if necessary, had been made
by the Company in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Continuing connected transactions

Since 31 August 2010, the Company has engaged Dr. Mao
to provide advisory and consultancy services to the Group in
relation to research and development of the Group’s genetic
testing products, and other scientific technologies. In this role,
Dr. Mao is the Company’s chief scientific adviser and currently
receives a monthly service fee of HK$56,000. The previous
agreement with Dr. Mao commenced on 1 September 2019, for
a period of three years, and was renewed on 31 August 2022 for
an additional period of three years, unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the agreement.

To the best knowledge of the directors, there were no other
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
subsisting during the Financial Year.

INTERESTS IN COMPETITORS

During the Financial Year and up to the date of this report, other
than those businesses of which the directors were appointed
as directors to represent the interests of such businesses, no
director is considered to have had an interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors for the Financial Year are
decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, their duties and responsibilities in the Group, individual
performance and comparable market statistics, and have been
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee during the Financial
Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Convertible bonds issued as disclosed in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, every director or other
officers of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices,
or trusts. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group did not make any charitable
donation (2022: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s total purchases and
sales attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
respectively during the Financial Year is as follows:
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At no time during the Financial Year had any of the directors,
their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) held an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil
its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its market
competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
constantly high standards and high quality products to its
customers. During the year under review, there was no material
and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/
or customers.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those that
have significant impact on the Group. The audit committee of
the Company is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant
operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors as at the
date of this report, the directors believe that the number of
securities of the Company which are in the hands of the public
is above the relevant prescribed minimum percentage under the
Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there is no
other significant event occurring after the reporting period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Corporate Governance Report of the Company are
set out on pages 22 to 40 of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the five years ended 31 March 2023 is set out on
pages 143 to 144 of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year were audited
by Elite Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 29 June 2023
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 56
to 142, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group because of the significance of the
matters related to going concern and the potential interaction
of the multiple uncertainties and their possible cumulative
effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is
not possible for us to form an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties related to going concern

As discussed in note 3(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred operating
cash outflow of approximately HK$17,640,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$1,137,161,000 as at 31 March 2023 that include
convertible bonds, loans from a substantial shareholder and
loan from a former associate amounted to HK$1,036,312,000,
HK$51,000,000 and HK$6,007,000 respectively would be due
for repayment within the next 12 months, while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$1,331,000 only.

In addition, the Group’s major assets, being the development
of oral insulin product in the PRC, is currently under the stage
of Phase Il clinical trial (“Clinical Trial”), the validity of future
cash flow arising from the commercialisation of the oral insulin
product is depending on the successful of the Clinical Trial
and obtaining the necessary approval from National Medical
Products Administration of the PRC. The management expected
the oral insulin product will be launched in the first quarter of
2025.

These conditions, together with other matters described in
note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of a multiple uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking certain
measures to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and to
improve its financial position, which are set out in note 3(a) to
the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of the going concern assumption is dependent on
the outcome of these measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties including whether (i) successful to complete the
Clinical Trail and the oral insulin product to be launched in the
first quarter of 2025 : (ii) successful on renewal the maturity of
the convertible bonds with bondholder : (i) new financing will
be obtained to support its Clinical Trial ; and (iv) successful on
renewal the maturity of the loans with substantial shareholder
and loan from a former associate. As a result of these multiple
uncertainties, the potential interaction of these uncertainties,
and the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable
to form an opinion as to whether the going concern basis of
preparation is appropriate.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R 2L Gk Sn

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their net realisable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue an
auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. However, because of the matter described in
the Basic for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Yip Kai Yin with Practising
Certificate number P07854.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10th Floor

8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong

29 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeEsakAMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F#& T FAT
Revenue W & 6 8,075 11,145
Cost of sales 85 & A AR (7,217) (10,091)
Gross profit E F 858 1,054
Other income H A Y A 8 49 83
Other gains and losses, net Efb i N E iR R 8 180 250,734
Administrative expenses THRAXZ (17,031) (17,243)
Research and development MR
expenses (4,758) (8,246)
Finance costs M%EEA 9 (233,969) (189,951)
(Loss)/profit before income tax Frig®im (&518), % 7 (254,671) 36,431
Income tax expense FEHRAX 10 - =
(Loss)/profit for the year FRN(EE), & T 11 (254,671) 36,431
Other comprehensive (expenses)/ Hzm(FER), M
income:
Item that may be reclassified HEREEF 7 E B a
subsequently ZIEEH -
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on BMEBINEB I ERE
translation of foreign operations ¥ (33) 129
Other comprehensive FRNHEMEE
(expenses)/income for the year (AX), W= (33) 129
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ FRE2E(AX) WaBE
income for the year (254,704) 36,560
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBaEMmEEmkaR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=1T—HILFE

2023 2022
—g=-= - —
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TER FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year ATALTELEFEA
attributable to: (E518), & F) -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIET =N (245,698) 45,803
Non-controlling interests I 2= AR A & (8,973) (9,372)
(254,671) 36,431
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ IWTATEEFEFAZE
income for the year (AX), W= sesE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NETE 2N (245,707) 45,985
Non-controlling interests I ¥ AR A 2 (8,997) (9,425)
(254,704) 36,560
HK cents HK cents
A1l ol
(Loss)/earnings per share ZR (&8 &F 15
Basic HAK (16.78) 3.13
Diluted 1 (16.78) (3.59)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR R

As at 31 March 2023
R-E—_=F=H=+—~H”

2023 2022
—E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F#& T T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 941 2,822
Intangible asset A 18 1,373,224 1,373,224
1,374,165 1,376,046
Current assets mENEE
Trade receivables B 5N IR 3 19 6,167 9,260
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIE - He REME
receivables W skIA 20 2,385 5,607
Bank balances and cash BT EE S 21 1,331 4,083
9,883 18,950
Current liabilities mEBE
Trade payables B IR RR 22 4,022 8,153
Lease liabilities HE&E 23 968 1,881
Accruals and other payables EAERAREMERNK 2,972 3,975
Amounts due to non-controlling FE 5T IE 128 A% 7 25 IR
interests 24 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former non- JFE 15T A JE 158 AR 4 55 3K IE
controlling interest 24 724 724
Loans from a substantial KE—UTFTERRER
shareholder 24 51,000 40,000
Loan from a former associate RERTHZ ARER 24 6,007 =
Amount due to a former associate JE ST R BSE 2 A A KT8 24 41,947 41,947
Convertible bonds Al I (& 5 26 1,036,312 —
1,147,044 99,772
Net current liabilities mBBEFE (1,137,161) (80,822)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDEME 237,004 1,295,224
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RE IR

As at 31 March 2023
R=ZE=—=F=H=+—~H

2023 2022
—E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FTER FHET
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Convertible bonds Al % (& & 26 68,510 871,791
Lease liabilities HE&E 23 - 968
Loan from a non-controlling REFEEREZER 24
interest 10,346 10,346
Loan from a former associate REREE RFZER 24 17,586 16,853
96,442 899,958
NET ASSETS EEFHE 140,562 395,266
Capital and reserves BEARRFEE
Share capital % 7 27 14,642 14,642
Reserves G (809,716) (564,009)
Equity attributable to owners of the AR &) A A FE1E # 25
Company (795,074) (549,367)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR HE & 30 935,636 944,633
TOTAL EQUITY A 140,562 395,266
The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 142 were #{ N FE56H & F142B 2 AP BEREE
approved by the board of directors on 29 June 2023 and are HEZgR T - = i/\ﬂf‘f’ﬂﬁﬁt}’% :
signed on its behalf by: WHATEEFREEE:
Jiang Nian Tang Rong
BF BB
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
2 EE
2023 BEMBHEREYNEERAE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
TEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRERARSE

Foreign

Convertible currency
Share  Share premium bonds equity translation Accumulated Non-controlling Total
capital account reserve  Others reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

BE: Y
MR 2R
Bt @t 1 a5t i
HK$'000 HK$'000 0
ThT L TER
(Note f)
()

As at 1 April 2021 14,642 1,119,294 575,392 4140 (38 (2,308,782) (695,352) 954,058 358,706
Profit for the year 1 - - - - - 45,803 45,803 (9,372 36,431
Other comprehensive  £RE {2 Al
income
for the year - - - - 182 - 182 (83) 129
Total comprehensive  ER2ERELE
income
for the year - - - - 182 45,803 45,985 (9,425) 36,560
As at 31 March 2022
and 1 April 2022
“Z--EMA-A 14,642 1,119,294 575,392 4140 144 (2,262,979 (649,367) 944,633 395,266
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (245,698) (245,698) (8,973) (254,6T1)
Other comprehensive SR EH 2 AR R
expenses
for the year - - - - (9) - (9) (24 (33)
Total comprehensive  EAZEHETEE
oxpenses
for the year - - - - ] (245,698) (245,707) (8997) (254,704)
As at 31 March 2023
14642 1,119,204 575,302 4,140 135 (2,508,677) (195,074) 935,636 140,562
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Notes:

(@)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

The share premium account represents the amount subscribed for share
capital in excess of nominal value.

Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the amount allocated to
the equity component of convertible bonds issued by the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible bonds in note 4(g)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) before distribution of the net profit each year, the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC shall set aside 10% of its net profit
after taxation to the statutory reserve. The reserve can only be used, upon
approval by the board of directors of these PRC established subsidiaries
and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase
capital. During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there was no
transfer from retained profits to the statutory reserve since the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries incurred net loss in those years.

Foreign currency translation reserve represents gains/losses arising on
translating the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into presentation
currency.

Other reserve represents:

(i) the difference of HK$3,607,000 between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests of Longmark (Shanghai) HealthCare
Limited (“Longmark (Shanghai)”) were adjusted and the cash
consideration of RMB2.5 million received arising from deemed
disposal of 20% of the registered capital of Longmark (Shanghai)
that do not result in the losing control by the way of capital injection
in 2012;

(ii) the difference of HK$7,940,000 between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests of Longmark (Shanghai) were adjusted and
the cash consideration of RMB7.49 million received arising from
deemed disposal of 37.47% of the registered capital of Longmark
(Shanghai) that do not result in the losing control by the way of
capital injection in 2013; and

(iii) amount of HK$7,407,000 transferred to non-controlling interests

arising from waiver of loans to a non-wholly owned subsidiary

during the nine-months ended 31 March 2014.

Remittance outside the PRC of retained profits of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC is subject to approval of the local authorities and
the availability of foreign currencies generated and retained by these
subsidiaries.

,gg)”\,% i@)%
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T_=F=A=1+—HIFE

N

Bt (B AR R SR B AR A S R i (E 2 508 -

HBRESERFEREESRIETAR
TR RIA IR E 5 2 B s BB 1) ﬁﬁEmAWﬁ

R MY RE4(Q) (i) P TR BB S R A Y & R BUR

MR o

RBRPEARLMBE (THE ] EBERRE
RAAETER - BFEDIRFFEA - AR BRI
AEEWBATESEBEFFHRELI0%E
EERE o AT RBETTAREHERSER
iiaé I/,\ﬁ‘iulﬂi—rﬁﬁgl iZW%Q
RAvESEREMBNERZERTAER -
REE_T-_=FR-_T-__F=FA=+—H
ILEE ARAEBCZHENBRARIRZESF
EUHREEEIE RUTETHNSBRRE
w RSB E R TE R

SMEH B EEERENEBZEE AEF
MMER2EEMEE 2R HBE -

Hh 95

(i) RERLESBREEERBEERAR
(TEEMR(EDMIEEREZNAE
SHEE T —FWEFEHEER(L
)M EAR20% CGBBEFE A AMES
BMAEENEMEENBEEREAR
#2,500,0007T 2 [& #) Z= %83,607,0007%

JT
iy RERLSNFEERERNAESSE
HoT-—FHERELEER(LEE)FE

B &EARG7.47% (GRBFEF XM EEH
KEBENBEMEENRESRKEBARE
7,490,0007T 2 [H #) Z #87,940,0007& 7T ;
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RBRE BT E KR T EH B A E 8
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= Ay~ —1
n. \éiﬁﬁlﬁi’?—%
As at 31 March 2023
R-E—_=F=H=+—~H”

2023

—F — =

—_———

HK$°000
FTER

2022
—m_ —

— =

HK$’000
TET

OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEE
(Loss)/profit before tax FiAn(E518),/ % F (254,671) 36,431
Adjustments for: e
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTRAEEENE 1,881 2,130
Gain on modification of convertible Bl ES 2 W
bond . (250,653)
Interest income from banks |WITH 2 A - 1
Interest income from rental deposit &% & 7 F B A - 2
Effective interest expense on R ESRERFE
convertible bonds 3 233,031 189,132
Imputed interest expense on FEWRTEE & REIER 2
loan from a former associate MEFNEHX 860 735
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEHNE 78 84
Allowance of expected credit losses 78 Hi{= B &5 18 B 5 235 415
Reversal of allowance for expected  #£ [0 78 B (= B & 18 B 5
credit losses (415) (496)
Operating cash out flows before EEESEHE 2
changes in working capital KER M (19,001) (22,219)
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 FE W IR ZOR 3,273 6,144
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, T I 124 &
deposits and other receivables H fth FE UK IE R A (38 ) 3,222 (1,124)
(Increase)/decrease in trade payables 2 5 ERTBRZ(GE ),/ 4 (4,131) 2,674
(Increase)/decrease in accruals and EAERREAMEN
other payables FIE(GE ), (1,003) 2,190
NET CASH USED IN RETHFACRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (17,640) (12,335)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received from banks

REEE
2 WER 17 F B

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

REFBFAZREFHR

62 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2023 Annual Report



FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of loan from a

BEED |
{8 1 9 4 B A 25 B 3

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MERERER

As at 31 March 2023

A, S

2023

—F — =

—_——_——

HK$’000
85

=F=A=+—H

2022

— = — —
=
—_—= —

HK$’000
THT

non-controlling interest — (10,583)
Proceeds from loans from a former  E R AT E RSB X
associate | 5,880 —
Proceeds from loans from a EFERRERMERA
substantial shareholder 11,000 20,000
Interest paid on lease liabilities HERBEZEMNHE (78) (84)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEgHEaE (1,881) (2,035)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METBRMEBZREFEE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 14,921 7,298
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRkBEcEEYRLFEHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,719) (5,038)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S B RREZEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 4,083 8,992
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE SNEEREFHTE
RATE CHANGES (33) 129
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT X BRERBLEEY -
THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and BRTEHR LR S
cash 1,331 4,083

2023%F 1}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P HmRME

GENERAL INFORMATION

Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. On 1 March 2013, the Company has
been deregistered in the Cayman Islands and continued
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
under the laws of Bermuda. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business
in Hong Kong is situated at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West
Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company referred to as the “Group”) are set out in note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BB REERFEIR 2B
Amendments to HKAS 16

BB ENFIHEZETA
Amendments to HKAS 37
BB EREITR ZEFTAR
Amendments to HKFRSs
EREVBREENZEBIR
pigi:3
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RERERE - ARAIRNDN BB
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House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
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MEERS A

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use

mE - -BMENEZRE — BEBEAZMERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continueq)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year continuea)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial position and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (inducing the October 2020 and

ARa SRR M

e
e Bt
_FH
Sy Kt
ﬁr
n_.
2 I
Y o
=
X S5
—L
Of
¥

Jﬁ$§i$¢f&LE¢rZWﬁ
RAREKBRR KA GRETERE
FERBETESEATE -

=Tl

B oA &mﬁT&ﬁ

W HT T & ﬁﬂ%.ﬂiﬁﬁéﬁﬂ’”ﬁ

Dff o B+ R (U
i HF A

Insurance Contracts’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture?

February 2022)
ERMBAEINETR(BA-F-FF] RRAK
:I:— L — —
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
BAYBRELEDFE105 LB B TR FE28

)

REEEHEBE ARG ELECHMNEERS ST
PRZAEFT A &2
Amendments to HKFRS 16
B 7% 3R 5 2 Bl 81657
Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
ERELDMEE A ES
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)2

BB EREIRZIBETR ﬂ%ET{( =) nﬁﬁmg SIERBRBBZREFESRHABIE
A — =
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

BB ERFEIR BTN M RAENIFERB ABES

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice  Disclosure of Accounting Policies'
Statement 2 ) ‘

BEEGHEMFIRREEM B REERNELE SHABRRE

)

1

2

3

CEESE

WEF2RZIERT A
Amendments to HKAS 8
BB GEERE
Amendments to HKAS 12

857 Z £ 7] X

Defmmon of Accounting Estimates!
= l:l-l_ 1E u-I—EIJ)TE%&E

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction!

1258 2 1E 5T A B B8 —

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 3. MHUEE

(a) Statement of compliance (a) &HREH

66

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong

REMBHRRIRETESGHAMAE
((ERGMAE]) Rtz AEER
BEMBHRESEN(EBH B RESE
Al] BHEMAEEM @R & &85

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued HREER - BEGHEN(ES S
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants EADEZRE) BBELAREFRA

(the “HKICPA”), accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rule Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rule”).

MEBRRMEH 2 BRE ER TR
Bl o ZEREYBRRIMETHIAT

FEHEEMBAUTEMRADZEAE
feﬁfka °

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the REHRZEEEMBHRERRE  EFE
directors have considered the future liquidity of the Group, ZEASENRRABHESHKR - &
including but not limited to the followings: FETRRUATEIE:

()  The Group has net current liabilities of approximately i) X"EBER=-ZT==F=A
HK$1,137,161,000 as at 31 March 2023 and =T+ —BZhBaEFEOR
incurred operating cash outflow of approximately 1137161 0008 T R REE
HK$17,640,000 for the year ended 31 March T =F=RA= + HIEF

2023 while cash and cash equivalents amount to
HK$1,331,000 only;

EEAZEER S RHEAO A
17,640,000 7T ' MR & KR 2
%812 51,331,000/ 7T ;

(i) The Group has outstanding convertible bonds with (i) ANE&EEARE 5 R971,000,000#
principal amounts of HK$971,000,000 to be mature T2 M ARITE AT AR B 5 1§ 2 R
in July 2023, October 2023 and December 2023 RZZEZ=F+tH ZT_=F

respectively;

(i)  The Group has outstanding loans from a substantial
shareholder and loan from a former associate
amounted to HK$51,000,000 and HK$6,007,000
would be due for repayment within the next 12
months; and

(iv) The Group’s major assets, being the development

TARZZE-_=F+"R3IH:

(i) AEBEARKRKT_EAEED
BIRE —%* B R &R E A5
&N AR R (838 B 551,000,000
7 7T 56,007,000/ 7T« &

(ivy "EBZEZEERETEHRA

of oral insulin product in the PRC, is currently BORKERER  BAIEER
under the stage of Phase Il clinical trial (“Clinical RARARBRE=ZH(HRKAR] -
Trial”), the validity of future cash flow arising from MARESERERERILESE

the commercialisation of the oral insulin product
is depending on the successful of the Clinical Trial
and obtaining the necessary approval from National
Medical Products Administration.
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Statement of compliance (continuea)

These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis on the assumption that the Group will
be able to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable
future. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group can meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due within
the next year from the date of the consolidated financial
statements, after taking into consideration of the following
measures and arrangements made subsequent to the
reporting date:

(i)

(i)

The Company obtained a confirmation from the
Group’s former associate and confirm in written that
they will not demand for repayment of approximately
HK$41,947,000 of amount due to a former associate
and HK$6,007,000 of loan from a former associate
as at 31 March 2023 for a period of at least 12
months from the date of approval of these financial
statements.

The Company obtained the financial support of the
substantial shareholder and confirm in written that
they will not demand for the loan of HK$51,000,000 as
at 31 March 2023 for a period of at least 12 months
from the date of approval of these financial statements
and agreed to provide the Company with sufficient
financial support to enable the Company to meet its
obligations to third parties as and when they fall due
and to continue as a going concern.

The management of the Company is currently working
on the Clinical Trial which has been commenced
in July 2020 and around 300 patients have been
selected and enrolled in the Clinical Trial as at 31
March 2023. The management is making every effort
to achieve the expected timeline that the oral insulin
product will be launched in the first quarter of 2025.
As at the date of this report, there is no negative
feedback from the Clinical Trial. The Group performs
annual tests of impairment on intangible asset and no
impairment is required.

(a)

ARa SRR M

B EE
EREBEHw
ZEMRABRFEERTEEMNE @ 3
SSAHAEBNFELEENESL
EARH At XEBE A REEEE

BfE-

BEHR LAAR - ZEHEEHBER
RIVBHEREELERE - YREAX
SERERATRAREERLE - EFL
ZRT IR @ E B HRELH O EE R
LK RAAKEAIENEES
MHEHRREBET T —FEANT B
MBEE ARAERLRZHFNT:

() ARFEMSAEEFEKZAQ
RAIZHER  UEBHAERRE
ETERZEVHRRERE
EREFELFTFZ@AREK
ARalEBR_E-_=ZF=H
=t+—BZEMAEE ARRIE
#741,947,0007% 7t & 2K B A B =
A 7 B 76,007,000/ It °

(i) ARREBETERIEZHEX
B UWUEAFABRIABRSETS
RZEVBERREI EE B
AELTZEARERAQTE
BR-_E-_ZF=ZA=+—HZ
B 351,000,000/ 7¢ I @ E M
RARRHART B ZE - &
RARSAME=FETTE 8
BRET VTHEBERBELE
HAELE o

(i) NAREEER EETEHRKRHA
BeomAABMON - T T4
tARB  MR-_ZE-_=%=H
=+—HEKERIBEEEI00
ZBE TEEREHNETES
BEX FORBREEZERB
RZZE-RAFE—FHH - BA
HREAH BAABTELR
EEARE - AEERERLE
EETFERENS TAE
BEITRIE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R & R TS ERR M

(a)

=

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Statement of compliance (continuea)

(iv) The Company is actively negotiating with the
convertible bondholders for renewal the maturity of
the convertible bonds.

The management of the Company is looking for other
financing and borrowing opportunity.

On 28 April 2023, the Company and Extrawell
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (“Extrawell”), the
former associate of the Company, entered into the
third deed of amendment pursuant to which the
Company and Extrawell have conditionally agreed
to amend the terms of the convertible bonds to the
effect that: (i) the maturity date shall be extended to
28 July 2025; and (i) the interest payment date of the
convertible bonds shall be further amended.

The third deed of amendment was approved in special
general meeting held on 28 June 2023.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the
Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
in full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for
the period of twelve months from the date of consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on the going
concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether management of the Company will be able to
implement the abovementioned plans and measures.

Should the above measures not be implemented as
planned, the adoption of going concern basis may not be
appropriate, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets
to their net realisable amounts, and reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at the
ended of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are amounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

— Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

— Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=

(b)

(c)

(a)

(b)

& WSS MR

=

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Basis of measurement (continuea)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”), which is the same as the presentation
currency of the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred,
in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group is able
to exercise control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2023 Annual Report
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(b)

(c)

(d)
(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interest entitling their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

In the Company’s statement of financial position disclosed
in the note 30 to these consolidated financial statements,
the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the board of directors that makes strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R & R TS ERR M

4.

(d)
(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continuea)

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each reporting period
presented are translated using exchange rates
prevailing at the closing rate at the end of the
reporting period;

— income and expenses for each consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income presented are translated at average exchange
rates for the period (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates
of the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised as
a separate component of equity under the heading of
foreign currency translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent
costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts
less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

3-10 years
3-8 years

The assets’ residual values, estimated useful lives and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other gain and losses, net in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(f)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible asset which represents an in-process research
and development project (“In-process R&D”) involving an
oral insulin product (the “Product”). The In-process R&D is
not amortised as it is not yet available for use.

Internally generated intangible assets (research and
development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is capitalised
if it can be demonstrated that:

it is technically feasible to develop the product for it to
be sold;

° adequate resources are available to complete the
development;

° there is an intention to complete and sell the product;
o the Group is able to sell the product;

o sale of the product will generate future economic
benefits; and expenditure on the project can be
measured reliably.

Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling
the products developed. The amortisation expense is
recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of sales.
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(f)

(9)
(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets (continuea)

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria
and expenditure on the research phase of internal projects
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Impairment

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(h)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

A financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus, for
an item not at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. Trade receivables without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on the trade date basis, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirely when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.
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(9)
(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continuead)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Debt investments at
FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets
held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as described
above, debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL on
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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(9)
(i)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial assets (Continuea)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value
in other comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at
FVOCI are measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) on trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables and bank balance. The ECLs are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime
ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument. The
maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.
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4.

(9)
(ii)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continuead)
The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking information.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument's external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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4.

(9)
(ii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continuead)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4.

(9)
(ii)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continuead)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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(9)
(ii)

(iii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continuead)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non-credit-impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities and equity

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
payables, accrual and other payables, amounts due to
non-controlling interests, amounts due to former non-
controlling interest, loan from a substantial shareholder,
amount due from a former associate, convertible bonds,
loan from a non-controlling interest and loan from a former
associate are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4.

(9)
(iii)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continuead)

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components, and early redemption option, if applicable
Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both
liability (together with the early redemption option which is
closely related to the host liability component, if applicable)
and conversion option components are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

On initial recognition of convertible bonds issued by
the Company, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the convertible
bonds into equity, is included in equity (convertible bonds
equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible bonds equity reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in
convertible bonds equity reserve will be transferred to
share premium). Where the option remains unexercised
at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
bonds equity reserve will be released to the accumulated
losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2023 Annual Report

4.

(9)
(iii)

BEXEFHE e

ERMIA®
cHEERER®)
AEREFREIEBEERERS PRI
51 f& [5] 1 (11 8 /5
AEEMBETESABRERREEE
EBOBERBEZZIREEOIHE - iy
BR)RBRESSNATRRES
TR ERERIEMILENE
BRABRULREREERRATANTE
F BUNEAHEBER - BUEE
cHERAeH I ELREERBAR
BAEETHANBRATERRNEE
MR TR AR T A -

EHERRNRR BT ZABRRES
BES R FETIRALUN A EiR
BEHBRBRITMEMNEEE - BITA
BB 75 WO P15 TR TR AR 3R B B i BB AP
DR FENZERRERTEAR
A 15 75 B8 4 7 1 2 O R B ) B
SIARE s (TR IR E ) A o

= 7]

REERHE - AT ESFNRERRD
TIABBR A FOR IR B SHA AN G B © 12
SZEHS(EABAEEIERSAR
7] 58 Y R R ) K R BRI AT 4R
BEFEEAFEERN  BEE2ZRAAR
PRAEREITE R LE(RULERT - Al
BEFEDFRHROERBERER
i E) o Wit RER BB A® KT
&£ - Rl IR AR 75 0 22 1 O A5 BR S AR
BRERFER BEREEESRNT
HErfeNBEREREFMKENX
B -

BOTABMBEFNRZAAN - BFF
REREIRLIBERBLES
BB o REER AR Y32 55 Ak AN O 2
HEMR - BRESIEHENRHK
AAABEBOWEEE  WAER
F AR AT AR B 7 IR A 3H o



(9)
(iv)

(v)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash flows in relation to the
financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivables is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only
when, the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or have expired.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

When the contractual terms of financial liability are modified
such that the revised terms would result in a substantial
modification from the original terms after considering
qualitative factors (e.g. modifications of convertible
instruments). When the contractual terms of a convertible
instrument are modified, the revised terms would result
in a substantial modification from the original terms, after
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors, such modification is accounted
for as derecognition of the original financial liability and the
recognition of new financial liability. The difference between
the carrying amount of financial liability derecognised and
the fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ERE SRR M

(9)
(vi)

(h)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Impairment of assets (other than financial

assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

° property, plant and equipment;
o intangible assets;

° investments in subsidiaries; and
° right-of-use assets

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cashflows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the
best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent assets/liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
Group assesses continually the development of contingent
assets. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of
economic benefits will arise, the Group recognises the
asset and the related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ERE SRR M

4.

(k)

(1)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Contingent assets/liabilities (continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fee paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
drawdown occurs. To the extent there is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting
period.
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(m)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
loss. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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4.

(m)

(n)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Retirement benefit costs and termination

benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in
the year when the employees render the related service.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

Leases

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ERE SRR M

(p)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (continueaq)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by
the Group; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease. The Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Lease liabilities

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right of use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments as fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in
future lease payments arising from change in an index
or rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the in
substance fixed lease payments or a change in assessment
to purchase the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the year in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R & R TS ERR M

(r)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties (continuea)
(b)  (continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the reporting
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
reporting entity.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
U N C E RTAI NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continuea)
Impairment of intangible asset

The Group performs annual tests of impairment on
intangible asset in relation to an in-process research and
development project involving an oral insulin product (the
"Product") (the "In-process R&D") involving the Product
which are not yet available for use. Accordingly, the
intangible assets relating to the Product with the carrying
amount of approximately HK$1,373,224,000 as at 31 March
2023 (2022: HK$1,373,224,000) was tested for impairment.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are
determined based on fair value calculations, which is
highly dependent upon further research and development
work required to be carried out, results of the clinical
trials, the successful launching of the Product and the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections. Details of the calculation of fair
value are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements. These calculations require the use of estimates
and assumptions made by management on the future
operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the fair value calculations. In
addition, the management is of the opinion that the Group
would be successful in obtaining the regulatory approvals
from the relevant government bodies and launching
the Product in first quarter of 2025 in the absence of
unforeseeable circumstance. The management also based
on the assumption that the Group would continue to have
the exclusive right for commercialisation of the Product.

Should the actual outcome of the clinical trials and the
launching of the Product be unsuccessful, the likelihood
and timing in obtaining the regulatory approvals from the
relevant government bodies to launch the product to be
unrealised, or the key assumptions applied in preparing
the cash flow projections from the Product in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or growth rate
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections on the In-
process R&D is different from the original estimates, such
difference could materially affect the carrying value of the
intangible assets. It will consequently have an adverse
effect on the net assets and the results of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continueq)
Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
the assumption that the Group will be able to operate
as a going concern in the coming year, which is a
critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

REVENUE

Revenue for the year represents the fair value of amounts
received and receivable for goods sold or services
rendered by the Group to outside customers for the year, is
analysed as follows:

Sales of beauty products in Hong Kong
and recognised at a point in time

REBHEXTEM
A B JE — B ) B 1 R

AR AT R M

EAESHERMAETTRE
EERENFEFEREFE

BT ERZ2ETERR@)
SEREEE
REAAEBNSETEERE BRI
EHfEErIN EEEEBRAEE K
R RERFEBELEEZRRBREE
BigsRE W hE S SIS RERT
BMRATHECTELAREAZENEKX
HI T o

Iy 2=
FRARBEALFALEEHRAIIAE
FELEmMmARHERHZE R LE
WHKIBZRFE 2FWmT:

2023

—_E—-=

2022

HK$’000
FE 7

HK$’000
TAETT

8,075 11,145

For sales of beauty products revenue is recognised when
control of goods has transferred to the customer, being
at the point the goods are delivered to the customer. The
normal credit term is 90 days upon delivery.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has two (2022: two) reportable and operating
segments as follows:

(@) trading of beauty products in Hong Kong (“Trading of
beauty products”)

(b) research, development and commercialisation of the
oral insulin product (“Research and development”)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are
strategic business units that offer different products and
services. They are managed separately because each
business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.

REHEXREMM S - WaEXEmA
rErEEEEEFPF(ABRRXN TR
FRNEREHER —REEHA
RZF1£90R o

7 &8 &
AEEBBEUTHRE(CZCE-_—_F:MK
) 2R NEEDE:

(@ REBEBZEXBREmME
mEZ])

b) MEIRAMEORBRSEEmR
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ARENSRREED BREHF
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=5 BEERIER - BEEBHBD
P TR 48 58 B R o

20235 FEMBERLENPEERAF 95

N/



96

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
LR e BTSRRI FE

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq)

Segment revenues and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in the consolidated financial
statements. Segment loss represents the loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of corporate and
other expenses and other income, interest expenses on
convertible bonds and gain on modification of convertible
bonds, other gains and losses, net. All assets are allocated
to segments other than corporate assets. All liabilities
are allocated to segments other than corporate liabilities,
lease liabilities, amounts due to a former associate, non-
controlling interests and former non-controlling interest,
loan from a substantial shareholder, a former associate and
a non-controlling interest and convertible bonds.

D E R E
THRBERESE

EE o 2 2 ET R B AR A B RS 3R
KA ERER - o3 EEEE L E
DECEREREMEAST REMK A - 7]
TR EHFF B RS A B E
HoWm s BN EEFRE S
AT BOEELEZERE - DEEMA
BETFTHHSGEESNCEEE M
DEEFTEAE T R EET D
aE- -HEBE  ENAIBEAF
IEVERRE o S A SR P R e o 2 FR0E -
KE—EBRE - gilE v NI
ERERER  ARAIBKRES -

Trading of beauty Research and
products development
ZRERES RS
2022 2023 202
“E--# ZEC-= S
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR Thn AR ThEx

Revenue from external customers ~ RENSRF 7 Wi 8,075 11,145 - = 8,075 11,145
Segment loss SUER (463) @65) (12079 (13174 (13442 (13539
Additional disclosures for operating 2B B ENMEESE:

segments;
Unallocated other income, gains and KB £ A -

losses, net KaRkEEEE 49 =
Interest expenses on convertible TRREFNT S

bonds B¥ (233,031)  (189,131)
Corporate and other expenses TEREMAR (8,247) (11552
Gain on modification of convertible X A& REH W

bonds - 250,653
(Loss)/profit before income tax BREGHRA(EE)/ B (254,671) 36,431
Income tax expense FEHRAX - -
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(ER)/ &7 (254,671) 36,431
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq) 7.

Segment assets and liabilities

Trading of beauty
products
2REREZ
2023 2022
ZEZZE —F-
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR Thn
Assets £E
Segment assets PHEE 6,240 9,333
Corporate and other assets PEEEMEE
Total assets LR
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities AHEE 4,022 8,153
Convertible bonds TRRES
Corporate and other liabilities tEEAMER
Total liabilities BELE

IRE SRR
7 EHRE @
THEERARE
Research and
development Total
& @5t
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=fE -—ZT--% CZE-=Zf ~—ET--—
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR THT THR T
1,375,108 1,378,993 1,381,348 1,388,326
2,700 6,670
1,384,048 1,394,996
18,243 18,794 22,265 26,947
1,104,822 871,791
116,399 100,992
1,243,486 999,730

Amounts included in measure of segment

profit or loss and segment assets
For the year ended 31 March 2023

EEERAEIHBEZRDH
BEEZEH

BE-—_E_==A=+—

HiEFE

Trading
of beauty  Research and
products  development Unallocated Total
ZRERES R AAE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THER TER TER THER
Depreciation il - - 1,881 1,881
Reversal for ECL, net recognised in profitor ~ RMERER 7 BHEEEE
loss BEFH 180 - - 180
2023 BEMBHEREYNEERAE
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R & R TS ERR M

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq)
Amounts included in measure of segment

profit or loss and segment assets (continueq)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

/-\ﬁBﬁ = (&)
CEERAEIHERZR D&
BEE2SE(E)

HE-—_TE-_—_F=A=+—HILtEE

Trading
of beauty Research and
products development Unallocated
XREMES ks ADR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT ThET ThT ThEn
Addition to non-current assets FRBEERE - - 3,763 3,763
Depreciation nE - - (2,130) (2,130)
Reversal for ECL, net recognised inprofitor ~ RERERZBHEEER
loss BEFE 81 - - 81
Geographical information B R
The principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong AEBZEBETEMREE - BB
Kong. For the purpose of segment information disclosures BEBMBHREEAFESRIELN D
under HKFRS 8, the Group regards Hong Kong as its HERBEEMS  ~5BEREERE

country of domicile. Over 90% of the Group’s external
customers is located in PRC.

Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are principally
attributable to the PRC, being the single geographical
region.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue are as follows:

B - AEBEBBI0%H NP AL
RAE -

REBEBIONMIERBE E X B
PR BlME—E -

EBETEEFESR
*HE%@?E@E%@M&@O%E)EZ
W

2023 2022
—EgE-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Customer A P H 8,075 11,145
Revenue from the above customer in the respective PR BREFREREBEMERETY
reporting period is derived from the segment of trading of KREEREMESHHE -

beauty products.
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8. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 8.
LOSSES, NET

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRE BT RARMIFE

Hat W A/ E Ath Uy 35 K% &S
BEE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAE T
Other income H e A
Interest income from banks AT H B M A - 1
Interest income from rental deposit HERHBEKA - 2
Sundry income MW A 1 80
Government grants (note) B e (W) 48 >
49 83
Other gains and losses, net H i an K B 18 F 5E
Reversal/(allowance) of ECL, net EHEEEIERRE(BE)
FEE 180 81
Gain on modification of convertible BRI RES
bonds (note 26) W 2= (Fff 5£26) - 250,653
180 250,734
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised MiZ: REBEEZT-=F=ZA=+—HLLF

government grants of approximately HK$48,000 in respect
of Covid-19-related subsidies, which related to Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government. There
were no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to these

government grants.

9. FINANCE COSTS

Effective interest expense on convertible

fE - REBE L COVID-1948R8 =8 1E R
#4948,000 8 TR FH B & - JhHE B
BT RHMETEEH - RZEBRITH
B WM RIERNIGEHEERASE
Ig o

9. MKEH

2023 2022
e =

s D e

HK$°000
FER

HK$’000
TET

AR E 75 2 B A SR X

bonds 233,031 189,132

Imputed interest expense on loan froma KRERBHE AR ER Z2HE
former associate FEAX 860 735
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZFE 78 84
233,969 189,951
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2 =!

10.

100

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
corporations not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2022:
25%).

No Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax have been made for the year (2022: Nil).

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss)/profit before income tax per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FRF BB X

BEEEMNESHEMAG  GEKEE
T B/ E %£2,000,000% 7T i F #5 LA
8.25% M TR A + MEAE2,000,000
5 7T B 358 I 1S A16.5% B B R B o
AT BSRMAA G &R LB S
T 5 4 1B 12 16.5% M B — L R B B »

BEARCEMSHETEEMERH
EDREEMBRIAERIED - PE
BMBARZ MK AE25% (ZTB= —4F:
25%) °

AEFELEBZNEEFNEHR KHE
TEMSH(CE-__F :8)-

FAMSHAXEGAED MHEMD
FHKRRKRZBAEH(EER), &
FEERANT -

2023
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATE R (BB, & F (254,671) 36,431
Tax at the domestic income tax rate 12 7K Hb BT 45 15 A %16.5%
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) T F:16.5%)
=S8 MIE (42,021) 6,011
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R EMaEE E @& & 2
operating in other jurisdictions MBARZTRBE
A (140) (215)
Tax effect of expense not deductible EMBEIAAMB AT 2
for tax purpose Mg e 464 68
Tax effect of income not taxable BT ERBR WA Z
for tax purpose WM e (30) (41,440)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERRGEBE 2R BE T E 41,727 35,421
Tax effect of deductible temporary ATHRAAUMBERERZ
differences not recognised Mg e - 155
Income tax expense FrigfiMx - =
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11. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(Loss)/profit for the year has been
arrived at after charging the
following:

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Expenses relating to short-term lease
payment

Cost of inventories recognised as an
expense

Staff costs, exclusive of directors’
emoluments
Salaries and other benefits
Retirement benefits scheme

contributions

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FABR),ENTIMERT
S B IRRER:

=% A BN
EREEENE
EREREERR ZRAX

BRAAXZTFEKRAN
TEREFMEeERNZET
BN
e K H AR A
BARAE M ET S

AN
iral

2023

—= — =

—_—

HK$’000
TR

1. FR(EE)EF

5 R Y R

HK$’000

THETT

950 1,000
1,881 2,130
244 411
7,217 10,091
3,888 4,781
920 121
3,978 4,902

2023%F 1}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
LR e BTSRRI FE

12.EEM<E
EERERITHNBREFEZHW
W HRIEER ETRAREED
714 B 2 2 -

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
discussed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

102

Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
Name of Directors fee benefits contributions Total
FER BHKEF
EspR EEHS Hth 38 F 5 & it & M
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FHBTT FHB T FBT
Executive directors HITEE
Gao Yuan Xing = R # 60 1,300 - 1,360
Tang Rong EE 60 488 - 548
Non-executive directors HHTEE
Jiang Nian B 60 - - 60
Xiao Yan H 60 - - 60
Wu Yanmin 5B 3% 8% 60 - - 60
Independent non-executive BV H#HITEE
directors
Chen Weijun BR1EE 80 - - 80
Wang Rongliang TER 60 - - 60
Chen Jinzhong el 60 - - 60
Total for the year ended HE_T_=F
31 March 2023 —B=+—H
HFEE2BE 500 1,788 - 2,288
Executive directors HITEE
Gao Yuan Xing = R 8 60 1,300 = 1,360
Tang Rong ER 60 488 — 548
Non-executive directors HHITEE
Jiang Nian BF 60 - - 60
Xiao Yan H &k 60 - - 60
Wu Yanmin S 3 8 60 = = 60
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
directors
Chen Weijun RiEHR 80 - - 80
Wang Rongliang TER 60 - - 60
Chen Jinzhong fR & 55 - - 55
Total for the year ended HE-_T_—_—
31 March 2022 =A=+—8
EFE 2B 495 1,788 = 2,283
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continueq)

No directors waived any emoluments in current and prior
year.

During current year and prior year, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, if applicable.

The independent non-executive directors' emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

ARa SRR M

12.EEME

RAFEREREMFE  SEEENE
M o

RAFERENEE  AEBEIL EF
ETMEEZMNME - ERRFMARK
RIMAREE 2 2R -

FRATRATESZMWE I B EE
BAARERAEBEKEBZREM
U ER o

ERARIFATEZ 2 E IR BE
EARRBREMBAR(MER) &S
Z PR % i Y ER

ERARBIIFATESZME I
BREERNRARE R Z R M UER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GRE TSR 5
13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ 1. BB REHFALEHE
EMOLUMENTS
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the FA - AEEBREERFALTERE
year included two (2022: two) directors whose emoluments ME(CEZ_F - WMB)EF KF
are reflected in the analysis presented above. The ZHERERAITHRRE - HER=%
emoluments of the remaining three (2022: three) individuals (Z2EZ=F:=ZRB)A LT 22 FHT
are set out below: NS
2023 2022
—E-= —E-__F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and other benefits e Rk HEAMBEN 1,658 1,680
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & & & F 5t & £ 3 36 36
1,694 1,716
The emoluments fell within the following band: e N FATEHE:

Number of individuals

2022
B ——
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %1,000,0007% JT 3 3
14. DIVIDEND 14. R &
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary RZZFEZ=FRN ' RAARAINEB
shareholders of the Company during 2023, nor has any REIRMNSREBIRRE - B EHR
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting BEKNERE(CEZZF -THEL)-

period (2022: HK$nil).
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15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

(Loss)/earnings figures are calculated as follows:

AR AT R M

15. 3R (&8) &F

ARARBEAEAREERERN R #E
(B518),/BF Th iR AT 88 R 2EGH

(BB BN&EFZAHENT:

2023 2022
—Z-= —ET=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to 22 & % A A FEIEER
owners of the Company and (loss)/ (BB B EpTE
earnings for the purpose of basic ERERNREE(BE)
(loss)/earnings per share S Bz (E8.),/ &F (245,698) 45,803
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BEBELTRAR T E:
shares:
Gain on modification of convertible Bk ES W=
bonds - (250,653)
Effective interest expense on AIMmRESZERRNE
convertible bonds -3 - 142,001
Loss for the purpose of diluted loss it EER#EEEE 2
per share &5 18 (245,698) (62,849)
Number of shares K7 # A

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic

SRAEFRER(ER),
B A 2 E B R i

(loss)/earnings per share 15 2 1,464,193 1,464,193
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BESsETBR2EE:

shares:

Convertible bonds A % (& & - 286,000
Weighted average number of ordinary Bt ESFREFEE 2

shares for the purpose of diluted I NN A S &

loss per share 1,464,193 1,750,193

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 March 2023 does not assume the conversion of
the Company’s outstanding convertible bonds since their
assumed conversion would decrease in loss per share for
that year.

TEEE T _=F=ZA=1+— EIJt
ETW!HX&&%EEE%IR&@
NEHARE A AR E S EE S
HeaR&ZERAIBRES KR
ZEENERERE -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. %  BERR®E

Plant and Motor
machinery vehicles Total
B R eE AE weE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT TAT TAT
COST SN
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March R=-ZE=-—FNAE—H "
2022, 1 April 2022 and —E-_-_f=ZA=+—-H"
31 March 2023 ZE--FWA-HR
—E-_=Zf=ZH=+-H 480 29 509
ACCUMULATED RAFERAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March R=-ZE=-—-FWMA—H -
2022, 1 April 2022 and —E-_-_f#=ZA=+—-H"
31 March 2023 “EZ-FWA-HEK
—E_Zf=ZH=1+-—-H 480 29 509
CARRYING AMOUNTS RREE
As at 31 March 2023 A\—EBE-_=f=A=+—H - - -
As at 31 March 2022 RZBE-_—_F#=A=+—H - - —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IRE SRR
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAEEE
Leasehold
properties
HEME
HK$’000
FAT
Cost SRS
As at 1 April 2021 RZE-—FPPA—H 4,664
Additions NE 3,763
Termination of leases A E (4,679)
Exchange realignment PE X 38 & 15
As at 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and R-ZEB-_Z—_H=H=+—8"
31 March 2023 —E-__FWMAB—-HE
—®-=#=HA=+-8 3,763
Accumulated depreciation 2T E
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FMmA—H 3,478
Depreciation for the year FRITE 2,130
Termination of leases mIEME (4,679)
Exchange realignment ME W 38 & 12
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 MR-E-_-—#=ZA=+—-AK
—ET-_FMA—H 941
Depreciation for the year FRITE 1,881
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZEZ=F=H=+—H 2,822
Net carrying value FREFE
As at 31 March 2023 R-E-_=F=HA=+—H 941
As at 31 March 2022 R-_E-_—_F=A=+—H 2,822
2023
—E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Expense relating to short-term leases & Eﬁﬂf EzMx 244 411
Total cash outflow for leases HERES RO B 2,278 2,530
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices premises
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 2 years (2022: 2 years). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

18. INTANGIBLE ASSET

COST AND CARRYING VALUES
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022,
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023

17. EAEEE»

RRFHHE  ANEEGELEEHES
TERAME HEASNTIRME(Z
B F WE)EEFPRI L HE
FH TR AR EERERE -  BBESTR
GREGEE EEHEFHLTME
TNAIBCEMABRER KEEERS
W2 TEE WEFEALHA TREIHTT
Z,H\zqﬁzﬁ ©

18. B B &

In-process
R&D
MEBRE

HK$’000
FET

R R REE
R-ZE-_—FM™A—A-
—_E-—_#£=HR=+—8"

—E--—FmMA-AK

—E-=f5=A=+—H

1,373,224

The In-process R&D represented an in-process research
and development project involving the Product. The patents
of an invention “a method of production of oil-phase
preparation of oral insulin (—fE & & O iR & & &= H 8 &
| #) 77 5K)” in relation to the Product are registered under
the joint names of Fosse Bio-Engineering Development
Limited (“Fosse Bio”) and Tsinghua University, Beijing
(“THU”). Fosse Bio is a subsidiary of Smart Ascent, which
became a subsidiary of the Company upon completion of
the acquisition on 28 July 2014. In addition, Fosse Bio and
THU have entered into the collaboration agreement in 1998
in connection with the research and development of the
Product. Pursuant to the THU Collaboration Arrangement,
which is originally expired in October 2018. During the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has entered into a
supplemental agreement with THU to renew the terms of
the collaboration for another five years to October 2023.
(the “Renewed THU Collaboration Agreement”). Under the
Renewed THU Collaboration Agreement, Fosse Bio would
be entitled to commercialise the relevant technologies of
the Product and to manufacture and sell the Product on
an exclusive basis, and THU is entitled to 1.5% of Fosse
Bio’s annual sales upon commercialisation of the Product.
Accordingly, Fosse Bio has the exclusive right for the
commercialisation of the Product under the Renewed THU
Collaboration Agreement.
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RARRE_FT—NOFELA-1+/\H
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R EHMBRER S FNEHE -
REBEZRER-_ZE-N\F+AZHZ
BERBEIEMEGE  -#HE-T
“NF=ZA=+—BILFE X&H
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

The recoverable amount of the In-process R&D is
determined based on fair value calculation using the income
approach, with reference to the valuation performed by
Roma Appraisal Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer. The fair value calculation used the cash flow
projection prepared by the Directors based on the 10-year
projection period. Given the nature of the Product, which
is expected to be the first oral insulin drug available in the
market, in the opinion of the Directors, using a 10-year
projection period is more appropriate to reflect the future
cash flows arising from the Product in the long run.

The cash flow projection is also prepared under certain
key assumptions, including but not limited to the expected
selling price, budgeted sales, expected gross margin, the
estimate successful rate for the commercialisation of the
Product and discount rate. In addition, the fundamental
assumptions included the regulatory approvals from the
relevant government bodies (in particular, the granting
of the certificate of new medicine and pharmaceutical
manufacturing permit for the Product by National Medical
Products Administration of the PRC) to launch the Product in
the first quarter of 2025.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to the In-
process R&D approved by the management cover a 10-year
period. The calculation used in the cash flow projection with
certain key parameters are as below:

ARa SRR M

18. BFLEE

MEBiEzA kBB IKE2EE
VEXRERMGEMESFSERIGA
RARETHG/E £HEAER
NPEAEETE - A FEFEEE
RERBEANTERASRE 2T
EREFEN EREMUEEFEHA
M FERARAHIHE 2 RS R
) EZRA EATERAME
ERANRBRRETS KA EMI AR

A =
Iﬁi/ﬁi ©

Hens8BATERETEIERRF
2 BEETEARGER BE
HER  BHENE  ERARLY
FHRNERRES « 1ob - HA
B2 B AME SR - a
- EEHEREHESNEEE
(ARME AaPERRERESE
B Y LR T
5 E) -

Fot I

EEEEMLNMEBERGEEHR
REBEN@REI0FHME - RER
ERAMAFERE THARSEWT
AR

Discount rate (post-tax) BL IR K (Fi18)
Growth rate 1% 5 R

Gross profit ratio 48 R B &
Estimate successful rate T8 51 Ak Ih X

29.0% 27.3%

2.2% 2%
63.4% 64.19%
52.3% 52.3%

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of the Group’s intangible asset. Management
believes that any reasonable possible change in any of these
assumptions would not result in impairment.

AR EIRIB AR SRAEB BT EE
MEEE BEEERSZEFRINE
MEEAREE KT EERRE -
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B RSTR R B 5
TRADE RECEIVABLES 10. EZ5 EWER X
2023 2022
—ZE_= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables H 5 e R 3 6,402 9,675
Less: Loss allowance for expected BoTEHEEBEZ
credit loss &5 18 £ 1 (235) (415)
6,167 9,260

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
based on credit. The credit terms of 90 days (2022:
90 days). All sales made to the major customer have
short credit terms. These credit evaluations focus on
the customers’ past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period:

AEBEFZESBERARETEURER
NET - EEH AR (ZTE -5
90H) - FﬁJ‘IR%)f'f’EHjZFﬁ*ﬁiﬁ’%
BEEEES ZEEEETEEFLPX
ﬁilJHH RIE 2 @RS - ARBRIZ
e WEERFPUNERFE
BZRERIBRBCEEER - $§
I@U}FT@ il AR U 2] 2 MK R
ERERE Eﬂ%iﬁtiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ°

ﬁéi&iﬂﬁik BEZZAHEIE
SREWERGIREEERER) ZE
%ﬁﬁmT

7

;

2023 2022

—E==
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#& T FAT
30 days or less 30HZ AT 505 316
31 to 60 days 31£60H 491 320
61 to 90 days 61290H 695 741
91 to 180 days 912180H 2,134 3,138
Over 180 days H#3i®180H 2,342 4,745
6,167 9,260

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are
set out in note 32.

AEEBRERZTFERT BT ME
e

ESEWERE
B 5¥32 o

KR ERF A ZFRER
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PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

AR AT R M

20. ARRE -REREME
W K I8

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

TER FAT

Prepaid rental fee EANES 57 57
Prepaid project operating fund ENEEEERE 1,554 4,809
Deposits paid EftEE 530 497
Other receivables H b & Y K IE 244 244
Total HEt 2,385 5,607

Details of impairment of other receivables and deposits are
set out in note 32.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and bank balances
held by the Group with original maturity of three months
or less and carry interest at prevailing deposit rates which
range from 0.625% to 0.750% (2022: 0.016% to 0.027%)
per annum.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

HEEWRRIE MRS RETGZF
B MIEE32 ©

1. RITHEBRERE
RITEBREECEREAERIFEAEZ
ReRiF1TES - REHBBA=@A
HERRE  BRRITERFERFTE
RN FHFEF0.625%%0.750% (—=
~— 4 :0.016%&0.027%) °

2. ESEMNER
RMEHK BEZZEAHINNE
SEMBRR ZRESWTIOT :

2023 2022

—sE=-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T& T
30 days or less 30HZ AT 440 301
31 to 60 days 31260H 428 306
61 to 90 days 61%290H 623 688
Over 90 days B 3m90H 2,531 6,858
4,022 8,153

The average credit period on purchase of goods normally
range from 60 days to 90 days.

2023%F 3 EMBEREYREERAR 111



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
LR e BTSRRI FE

23.fHE&E

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

112

2023
—E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#& T F& T
Current B HA 968 1,881
Non-current JEBNHA - 968
968 2,849
Minimum lease payments due RTIYHEAE AR E 2
KB ERE
— Within one year — —FR 979 1,959
— More than one year but not more — BB —F
than two years BALZRMF - 979
979 2,938
Future finance charges RRBEFEZ (11) (89)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 968 2,849
Present value of minimum lease EBEERERE
payments
— Within one year — —FR 968 1,881
— More than one year but not more — BB —F
than two years BRZRME - 968
968 2,849
Amounts due for settlement within R—FRERAEN 2R
one year 968 1,881
Amounts due for settlement after R—FR®IIPEN 22
one year - 968
968 2,849
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IRE SRR
23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 23.HEAEw

The exposure of the Group’s lease liabilities are as follow: AEEMEEB 2 HEBEBERAT:

2023 2022
—g=-= =

HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
As at 1 April R A—H 2,849 1,118
Additions NE - 3,763
Interest expense BRI X 78 84
Repayment BN (1,959) (2,119
Exchange realignment bE 38 & - 3
As at 31 March R=A=+—H 968 2,849
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LR e BTSRRI FE

24. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 24.FE{fFEREZ R AIFEE
INTERESTS AND FORMER BRESNE - B BE
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST, DEFIE - REFERES
AMOUNT DUE TO A FORMER EX - REAKEEQARER
ASSOCIATE, LOAN FROM A NON- FE—NUNFERFRER

CONTROLLING INTEREST, LOAN FROM
A FORMER ASSOCIATE AND LOANS
FROM A SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

& ~F 3F 22 B 4 21 SRR

2023
— e =

—_—_——

HK$°000
FRET

2022
= —

=

HK$’000
THET

Fordnew (Notes a and b) 2 i (ft sFab) 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former JE A< BT FE 5 AR M 2 SR IE

non-controlling interests

Zheng Chang Xue (Notes a and b) &S 2 (M 5Takb) 559 559

Hou Shi Chang (Notes a and b) &t 8 (M 5Takb) 165 165

724 724

Amount due to former associate JE 1~F Bl e & 2 B RKIB

Extrawell (BVI) (Note d) Extrawell (BVI) (f 5 d) 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non-controlling interest ~ K EFFIEREFZ E R

Fordnew (Note c) 12 B (Bt ¥ c) 10,346 10,346
Loan from a former associate RERTHEE DB E R

Extrawell (BVI) (Note e) Extrawell (BVI) (Ff 3t e) 23,503 16,853
Loan from a substantial shareholder RKE— I EXZRREK

Dr. Mao (Note f) FEiE I (M 5ES) 51,000 40,000
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AR AT R M

24. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 24. FE 1 3k 2 B # 25 & Al 3k #2=
INTERESTS AND FORMER
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST,
AMOUNT DUE TO A FORMER
ASSOCIATE, LOAN FROM A NON-
CONTROLLING INTEREST, LOAN FROM
A FORMER ASSOCIATE AND LOANS
FROM A SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

(b)

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

The amounts represent contributions made by non-controlling
interests of Fosse Bio in respect of working capital and operation
funds for the further clinical trials of the oral insulin project.

This represents a loan made by Fordnew to Fosse Bio pursuant to
the loan agreement entered into between Smart Ascent and Fordnew
on 25 May 2011. The loan is unsecured and non-interest bearing. The
loan will be repaid 3 years after the product available to launch in the
market.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable within one
year.

On 27 July 2018, the Company and Extrawell (BVI) entered into a
shareholders’ loan agreement for a loan to Smart Ascent amounting
to HK$30 million in total (the “2018 Shareholder Loan”), to be
contributed as to 51% i.e. HK$15.3 million by the Company and as
to 49% i.e. HK$14.7 million by Extrawell (BVI). The 2018 Shareholder
Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum, repayable after
5 years at the drawdown date.

Smart Ascent has been fully drawn down the loan on 24 September
2018, 7 August 2019 and 14 August 2019. As at 31 March 2023,
interest expenses of HK$1,500,000 (2022: HK$1,500,000) is
recognised to profit or loss.

On 8 March 2022, the Company and Extrawell (BVI) entered into a
Shareholders' loan agreement for a loan to Smart Ascent amounting
to HK$12 million in total (the “2022 Shareholder Loan”), to be
contributed as to 51% i.e. HK$6.1 million by the Company and as
to 49% i.e. HK$5.9 million by Extrawell (BVI). The 2022 Shareholder
Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum, repayable after
5 years at the drawdown date.

Smart Ascent has been fully drawn down the loan on 17 June 2022,
6 January 2023 and 15 March 2023. As at 31 March 2023, interest
expenses of HK$255,000 is recognised to profit or loss.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the loans from a
substantial shareholder is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayment on demand.

R

RIE - B AT EBE

MIE - REFERERE

Eh\
TA

REFBERTERRK

—NNEFERRER

20235

ZRBEREER 2EREBEHE
Elﬂ°

iﬂ\ﬂ

ZP BB R IR R A Bk B
ERARKSRZAEBNE - FRKRA
MREED 2R -

ERTRERBR-_ZE——FRAA=-+H
AEEHERETERBRETRELIZ
BN - ZEXRAERRREFNE - ZE
FEREMBELIFEEE -

B i
B

A

Q%EE%%W‘%E&%E*EWE
=

RZZE—NFELtA=-+tB £AAF
&Extraweu (BVI).:Ti*f HES-E 4
A A %E it 48 %8 %530,000,0007%
ngm(( ﬂ\iﬁ;ﬁ%mﬁ 2]
NN 1,#51% 18 (B115,300,0007%8
JC) % H Extrawell (BVI)}E( £49% 5% 18 (Bl
14,700,000 7T) - ZE—\FREEK
BERR - ia’*ufﬁ% + AR REUE H
hFBEEE -

BEEER-ZE—N\FALA-FTWMA =F
—hNWENAEBEZZE—AFNA+E
BERSRNZER RZTE=-_=F=A
=+—H8 " F B % 1,500,000 5T (=
2:: 1,500,000 L) EREB=Z A

R

RZEBE-_—_F=ZANH A2 K
Extrawell BV)F] 2 — D IR R EF
| 3 A IR 4 %8 512,000,000/ TT 2
%ﬁ(f,izfiﬂx%%?x ) B
2 7] 12 #£51% 3% H (Be6,100, 000;955 L)
& i Extrawell (BVI) $2 #£49% 3% 1A (B
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BEEIE - FFEREB5% - BRIZEEH
AFREE -
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=+—H ' FEZ 2550008 TE KRB
HARER °

HE_T_=FR-_T-__F=ZA=1—
HIEFE RE—UEITERRER/E
T ERNE

BB RE N A L

R BRIEE -
BRAF

115

N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ERE SRR M

25. DEFERRED TAX 25, iE JE B 18
At as 31 March 2023, the Group had estimated unused tax R-EBE_=F=A=+—H &~5H
losses of HK$84,586,000 (2022: HK$48,877,000) available filt 51 A < 8 A B 18 & 884,586,000
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has BT (2T = 24 : 48,877,000/87T) -
been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the ARAERERE RN o AR AR TER
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses Hgsfie W EGEE@ENIE
have not been agreed by the relevant authorities. The tax EEERECREBEE BEHER
losses do not expire under current tax legislation. MR % E R IBES 18 - IRBIRITRE -

MIBEBETRMER -
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AR AT R M

26. AR EFH
PO B 17 2 TR R 1 5 B 1 5
DT EHEIMT

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds
issued by the Company for the year is set out below:

Convertible  Convertible Convertible  Convertible

Bonds | Bonds Il Bonds Il Bonds IV Total
CIE: 3 Gk 3 CIE: 3 Gk
E%— E5= B&%= EHM o
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT AT FHT FAT AT
As at 1 April 2021 R-Z-—&WA—H 139,963 17,776 748,478 27,095 933,312
Gain on modffication of convertible & 3] AT & B % 2 U 2
bonds (note 8) (H#8) - - (250,653) = (250,653)
Effective interest expenses ERFISHY 36,557 4224 142,001 6,350 189,132
As at 31 March 2022 and RZE-Z4=R=+-H
1 April 2022 K—E-_%¥MA—H 176,520 22,000 639,826 33,445 871,791
Effective interest expenses EBRFISHY 45,394 5,207 174,572 7,838 233,031
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=(=A=1+-H 221,914 27,227 814,398 41,283 1,104,822
The effective interest rates of all the liability component of FTEHBMERESDN ﬁﬁ FEaE

HNEBEMENF: ¢2344%i
2728% (ZE - —F : §F28.44% &
27.28%) °

all the convertible bonds ranged from: 23.44% to 27.28%
per annum (2022: 23.44% to 27.28% per annum).

Convertible Bonds | ARKRES—

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate ARRIRZE—=F+HAZ+HAR=
principal amount of HK$436,800,000 and HK$51,200,000 T—=—F+- A +tHBTAIBRRK
respectively on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013 &% 85T A& 5 5l %436,800,000
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds 1) for the E%T_E&M,ZO0,000/%TE(/\?@ [ 7] #2 %
acquisition of Sale CB-I and 450,000,000 ordinary shares BF—) BEKRESGFETRRE
of Extrawell. The Convertible Bonds | with a zero coupon H— ARG fﬁﬁﬁ450 000,000% & @
rate mature on the tenth anniversary of the date of issue. fg - TEEEXNAMBRES —EET

HHIEFETRFERRH -

The Convertible Bonds | entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 10
years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds |,
at the conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject to
anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds | have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

AMEES T EFRHEAER
REBEITAIMERES —BHERTFAME
B i AT #R R (B 25 — B AR A Ak
o - BRESEREM0.40/8TT © A
R EHIRKR S -

A A E s — R - R %
THHRRFETRAFEREERD -
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R & R TS ERR M

26. A REFH o
ABBRESE— @
AR ES —ABITEIT - ARQ
RZE—=F+A=Z+HAEKZ=

—=F+ AT+ EHET E’JT%

KEHF—HEBEL>R2FED A
42,886,000;8 7T 4,981,000/ JT -
DERMBEBEREE  FAEMU
3Eﬁj%ﬁﬁ§ﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ“‘ﬁ%ﬂ$%i *
WEtRARBZEERR - AAFR
:;i‘?—z&ﬂﬂfwﬂia)}:: —=
¢+—ﬂ—+taéé?f2ﬂﬁﬁﬁ1§%%
—DEAEETIBREZAFE
¥2) EJ7,%671,267,000;‘%73&82,161,000
BT BB -—EAERE - %8
A8 ART:

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds | (continued)

The Convertible Bonds | are issued in HK$. The fair values
of the liability component were HK$42,886,000 and
HK$4,981,000 for the Convertible Bonds | issued by the
Company on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
respectively, which has been determined by the discounted
cash flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate
of similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account
the credit risk of the Company. The fair values of the
conversion option of HK$671,267,000 and HK$82,161,000
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds
| issued by the Company on 25 October 2013 and 27
December 2013 respectively were calculated using the
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

25 October 2013
—Eg—=

+BA=+%H

27 December 2013
—E-—=

T=A=+tH

Principal amount of Principal amount of

HK$436,800,000 HK$51,200,000
rEH o

436,800,00038 7T 51,200,0003% 7T

Stock price e B HK$0.91 HK$0.99
0.91% T 0.99/% T

Exercise price TEE HK$0.40 HK$0.40
0.40/ 7T 0.40/ 7T

Discount rate Eﬁ fﬁ$ 26.12% 26.24%
Risk-free rate (note a) B % & (Ff 5 a) 1.83% 2.32%
Expected volatility (note b) i‘ﬁ Hﬂ /Ez 12 (Bt 3Eb) 86.71% 85.53%
Expected dividend yield (note ¢) TBHEI R B M s & (M iEc) 0.00% 0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will RAMAZCEEG ASIBEREEATM

result in changes in the fair value of the liability component. oo I H—r BMEBBL, AFEERE
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair g srEBEXP»RAFEMAZE

value of the liability component are based on the directors’ EEBERDEREFNREMET

best estimate.
Notes: B 5E

ZHNEDISENEERRTERFES
No B B 55 ) Wi 25 R RE

(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (@)
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past (b) ERBFHABARAABTERKE -
bond period.
(c)  Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the () REARFRNBARKRBIRMNGHEEL -

Company.
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds | (continuea)

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, none of
the Convertible Bonds | was converted into ordinary shares
of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds
| for the year is set out below:

AR AT R M

26. A REFH @
ABKRES—®
REBEE_ZE-_=FE_FT-_—"F=H
=+ —HULFE WEAABRRKRES—
WEHmARKAT LB -

FRTHRRES —ZABDHBHIE
ST

Principal Carrying

amount amount

& HE REE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FHET

As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FMA—H 256,000 139,963

Effective interest expense ERANERAX — 36,557

As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-_ZE -~ =HF=+—H

EZE-_—_FMA—H 256,000 176,520

Effective interest expense ERMERAX - 45,394

As at 31 March 2023 R-ZEB-_=F=ZHA=+—H 256,000 221,914
Convertible Bonds II aBEBREsE=

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000, HK$64,000,000 and
HK$64,000,000 respectively on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014 (collectively referred to as
“Convertible Bonds II”) for the acquisition of Sale CB-ll
first batch, second batch and third batch respectively. The
Convertible Bonds Il with zero coupon rate will mature on
the tenth anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Il entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
10 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds I,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds Il have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

AARR-ZE—NEMNA=-+MA
—E-NENA=+AR-ZE—MN
FH+_A=+—HPRUAS 42
64,000,000/ 7T * 64,000,000 7T
LA K264,000,0005% 7T 3% 17 7] #2 f (& 5
(ARBAEMMIERES -] 5&ED A
WEFETBRRES -S4 - F=
HEEZH TEEZRHAIBLRKRE
HF_HEBRTAHPRHETBEERD
/H\,q °

AMEES T EF A AER
RETAHRKRES _BHETFAR
BER A AT E S —ER B ARA
Bt - Ve EIE R BRI 0.408
T AR RESEGRKERF

fi FTHA R B 25 — AR Q8 - G0 BT

FHEFFTBFERREAEBETAE
@ o
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il «continuea)

The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair
values of the liability component were HK$6,622,000,
HK$6,916,000 and HK$7,577,000 for the Convertible Bonds
Il issued by the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014 respectively, which has
been determined by the discounted cash flow approach
using the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-

26. O] IR 5 5 »)

ARKBES =@

AR ESH B ITETT - ARERZ
T—FEMA=—+PH - —F—PUF )\
A=tHER-_ZE—WNFE+_HA=+—H
FTEs TR ES —MEaERH A F
B Rl £6,622,00078 7T + 6,916,000/
JC K%7,577,000/8 7T  JhiE @ BLIR IR &
mEE  FABELSETRBRESNR

convertible bonds and taking into account the credit risk TMBMNEETE - Wt RARFZEE
of the Company. The fair values of the conversion option B o ARBR-Z—MNEMA =101
of HK$131,454,000, HK$118,983,000 and HK$112,597,000 H - ZZE—mOFN\A=TARZ=ZZ—

classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds |l
issued by the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014
and 31 December 2014 respectively were calculated using
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

FH+_A=+—HETZAUBRKES
—oBAEETOBBREZR
Al 5131,454,0007% 7t
7T %112,597,000/%8 7t * JhiE i@ —
BEXEEHE -

FEH
118,983,000/
e
HHEAHBALT

24 April 2014 30 August 2014 31 December 2014
—E-mF “E-NEF “E-NE
MA=+MmA NA=tH +ZA=+-H
Principal amount  Principal amount Principal amount
of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000
PNk rEH reH
64,000,0007% 7t 64,000,0007% 64,000,000 Tt
Stock price B HK$1.42 HK$1.19 HK$1.16
14278 T 1198 T 11658 7T
Exercise price R HK$0.40 HK$0.40 HK$0.40
0408 T 0.40% T 0408 T
Discount rate Cpid 25.46% 24.92% 23.78%
Risk-free rate (note a) 2 3 B ) & (fff 3t a) 2.20% 1.84% 1.85%
Expected volatility (note b) T8 1R & (P 52 b) 84.57% 82.53% 80.79%
Expected dividend yield (note ¢) ~ TBHRRR B0k 25 & (Fi #c) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will BXAMAZCEEB ASBEEEM
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component. 28 BEREBBO LA FERE
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair g rEBED ”“%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ 2
value of the liability component are based on the directors’ EEBERDEREENREMET -
best estimate.
Notes: B 5 -
(@)  The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (8 ZAMEDZREREHEEBHEBBRNES
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation. REHFHW = EEE -
(b)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past by HRABEHBEARARABAEEBRKIE -
bond period.
(c)  Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the () WEARAABERBIRMEEL -
Company.
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (coniinueq)

Convertible Bonds Il «continuea)

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, none
of the Convertible Bonds Il was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond |l
for the year is set out below:

AR AT R M

26. A REFH @
ABRKRES =@
HE—_S =& —- —#=HA
=+ —HULFE WEABRRKRES—
LB NN o

FARAMBRESF - 2BERD 225
SIS AT

Principal Carrying

amount amount

AEHE BREE

HK$’000 HK$’000

F& T FAEIT

As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FMA—H 39,600 17,776

Effective interest expenses ERAMEZ = 4,224

As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-_ZE -~ =HF=+—H

EZE-_—_FMA—H 39,600 22,000

Effective interest expenses ERMEZH - 5,227

As at 31 March 2023 R-ZEB-_=F=ZHA=+—H 39,600 27,227
Convertible Bonds IlI ARKRESR=

The Company issued convertible bonds to its associate,
Extrawell, in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$715,000,000 on 28 July 2014 (collectively referred to
as “Convertible Bonds IlI”) as part of the consideration
paid to acquire of 51% equity interest in Smart Ascent. The
Convertible Bonds Il with coupon rate of 3.5% per annum
will mature on the seventh anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Ill entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
7 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds lll,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$2.50, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds lll has not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the seventh anniversary of the
date of issue.

ARABER-ZE—NF+A=-+NH
17K #8558 A715,000,00078 7T 2
AR ES(EBIAIRERES =T
HEtZ ARIRBE EAR» W
EAES1%RECRE - JBRRES=
ZEEEBRAE3LY - WHEREITH
Rz FtBAFEBRRE -

AMEESF =T EHFRFEAER
RETAHRRES=AHELFAR
BEESAREREF=—ER I ARA
Bt - VltaERE R BRI N2.508
T AXREHRRRE o

WAl R & = R EH R - BIER
HTAHEAECBFERREET
AfE [ -
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

122

Convertible Bonds lll continueq)

The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair value
of the liability component was HK$233,547,000 for the
Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28 July
2014, which has been determined by the discounted cash
flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the
credit risk of the Company. The fair value of the conversion
option of HK$136,646,000 classified as equity component
for the Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28
July 2014 was calculated using Binomial Model. The inputs
into the model were as follows:

Stock price B
Exercise price TE(E
Discount rate Ah IR &
Risk-free rate (note a) f= [ B FI K

Expected volatility (note b)
Expected dividend yield (note c)

T8 HA R & (P ﬁEf )

T8 HA AR B s = (Mt &)

26. O] IR 5 5 »)

ABMBRESFE= 2

AR ER=ZIABITEIT - XA
R-ZE—NMFE+A=-+N\B#EITZ
AR ESF=MAEHX»NAFE
#5233,547,000/8 7T * ThE B AL IE
AR ESF M IRITH IS H K IREEIR
Eﬁi;/\ug;f}%i ! EEEE+&$/Au
MNEERRBR ARaR_ZT—MN4EF
+t A= +/\E|%§éﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁif§#£
PHEAEERBIBRBREZATESR
136,646,000,%73 CTEABZEAE
NFtHE - ZEANBHALT

28 July 2014
—E—-{F
tA=+N\H

Principal

amount of
HK$715,000,000
PN
715,000,0003% T

HK$1.27

1.27% 7T

HK$2.50

2.5078 7T

2413%

Ta) 0.13%
27.29%
0.00%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component.
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component are based on the directors’
best estimate.

Notes:

(a) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (coniinueq)

Convertible Bonds Il continuea)

On 28 October 2019, the Company completed the
amendment of the term and condition of the Convertible
Bonds Il with Extrawell. Under the amendment, Extrawell
agreed the due date for annual interest payment of
HK$25,025,000 due on 27 July 2019, 2020 and 2021
amended to on or before 28 July 2021; and additional
interest of HK$11,261,250 shall be paid by the Company
on 28 July 2021. Detail of the amendments of the term
and condition of the Convertible Bond Il are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 13 September 2019.

On 16 August 2021, the Company completed the
amendment of the term and conditions of the convertible
bonds with Extrawell. Under the amendment, Extrawell
agreed to amend the term of the convertible bonds to
effect that, (i) the Maturity Date shall be extended from the
original maturity date to 28 July 2023; and (ii) the interest
payment date of the convertible bonds were amended.
Detail of the amendment of the term and condition of the
Convertible Bond lll are set out in the Company’s circular
dated 13 July 2021.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, none
of the Convertible Bonds Ill was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond
[l for the year is set out below:

AR AT R M

26. I IR &5 5 =)

ABKRESFE= 2
RZE—NAF+A=ZF+N\H K27
TR EBEET I RRESZNIER
R A& - BIBIEET - F%Iﬁﬁﬂﬁ#:
T—NF —T_TER_T-_—F
+tA-t++tB3HEN 5’125,025,000
BITHNEENBNREPBERAE-E
——F+ A+ N\BH=EZA RAR
RIER-_ZTE-_—F+A-+NBXM
28 HNF B11,261,2508 7T © (B E] AR
BEFZIGR GG ZFBHNAR
AHBA-ZTE—NFNLA+=BZA
I;_(I o

R-—E-—F)\A+<B AQ
FER A5 B 1B JT%Hﬂf%E’M%fK
G - RIBEEE] F%HM{;DTT

BMIRESF 2GR BB EBHBAEHR
R EgEE—_E-_=F A =+N

EI Ri)AT#REH 2N EBHET
—HHEE] o IEET AR EH =& K

&1'%1¢Z§$’|%ﬁﬁé$@ﬂ5ﬁﬁ%:"

——FtA+=AZBEX

BE_Z-_—_FKk-_F-_=F=A
=t+—HIEFE UEABRKRES=
WEE R A RKNFEEK -

FABRBRESF=2BEHRIZ2EH
SIE T

Principal Carrying

amount amount

& REE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FAT

As at 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FIH—H 715,000 748,478

Interest expense paid EXHHERX = 142,001

Gain on modification of convertible BRI MR ES 2 W aw

bonds — (250,653)
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R=—Z - —F ==+ —H

F—FT - —FmA—H 715,000 639,826

Interest expense paid EXAERAZ — 174,572

As at 31 March 2023 R-BZ-=%=ZA=+—H 715,000 814,398
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds IV

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000 on 30 April 2015
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds 1V”) for the
acquisition of Sale CB-IlI fourth batch. The Convertible
Bonds IV with zero coupon rate will mature on the tenth
anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
10 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds 1V,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds IV have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV are issued in HK$. The fair
value of the liability component was HK$7,790,000 for the
Convertible Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30 April
2015, which has been determined by the discounted cash
flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the
credit risk of the Company. The fair value of the conversion
option of HK$109,371,000 classified as equity component
for the Convertible Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30
April 2015 was calculated using Binomial Model.

The inputs into the model were as follows:

Stock price I 18
Exercise price TE(E
Discount rate Ah IR &
Risk-free rate (note a) #= [ B FI) K
Expected volatility (note b) T8 H K R (ﬁﬁ
Expected dividend yield (note c) T8 BRI B

f3Ta)
EE b)
(Bﬁqu)

26. O] IR 5 5 »)

TRKREZN
ARARER-_ZE—RFWHA=1THE
1178 & #2858 /564,000,000/% JT 2 AJ #&
BBz (BRI ] AE M) - L\Mﬁz
BEOMGFETRRES - - TER
e A] R R 25 T AS 0 3 1T B AR AT
FTEFERZH -

AR ESOE T ESRE AER
RETARKRESFODEHRE+FR
BE B % A] #2 AR M 25 10 88 2 R N R A
Befn - e B (E R B {70.4078
T AR REERFRS

fid P H2 BB 25 PO R JE 8 4 - RIS A0 2%
TEREFFETBEFERRERET
AEE -

AR ESEYAE LT - ZAFR
—E-RFMNAZTHBTAIBRRE
F R B E 2D MR FE A7,790,000
BT DR ABEUETTRRESNE
THSAERIZRRNERELETE -
WEFEARRNEERR - AAF
RZE—RAFNOAZ=Z+HETZA#
BEHFUDERAE=IOBRBEZRD
F{& A109,371,00078 7C © JhER A =18
NEAXFE o

BB AMT

30 April 2015
—E—EE
mMA=+H

Principal

amount of
HK$64,000,000
A&
64,000,000 JT

HK$1.16
1167 7T
HK$0.40
0.407% 7T
23.44%
1.48%
79.49%
0.00%
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (coniinueq)

Convertible Bonds IV (continued)

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component.
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component are based on the directors’
best estimate.

Notes:

(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, none
of the Convertible Bonds IV was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond
IV for the year is set out below:

AR AT R M

26. AR EH o)
AR ES N
*%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁZi%ﬁ@)\%ﬂ)fz%iEﬁ

ft-AFAEREXPRAFEMAEER
BRODERESHREM °

@ ZAXDSERNHERRTERFES
Ko B 7 o U 5 R E o

b) EREFHRARFNBEEBRRE -

© REARFDNBERBIRMEFEL -

BE_Z-_—_Fk-_F-_=F=A
=+ —HIEFE  WEAHBAREHF
ARy NN R

FAMBRRESFNZBERH &
FIE T

Principal Carrying

amount amount

& REE

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T

As at 1 April 2021 R-T——&mA—A 64,000 07,095

Effective interest expense BEERANERX = 6,350
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 NR-ZE-Z—_F=A=+—H

F=ZZEE=-—FAF—H 64,000 33,445

Effective interest expense ERAMERAX — 7,838

As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE=-=%=ZA=+—H 64,000 41,283
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. R &
2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FET
Authorised: A E
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares 50,000,000,000/% & & ® &
of HK$0.01 each 0.018 T2 &k 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEERIREHR:
1,464,193,024 ordinary shares 1,464,193,024 /% T R E (&
of HK$0.01 each 0.01B T2 @M 14,642 14,642
As at 31 March 2023, the maximum number of shares R-ZE-_=F=A=1+—H8 £@Ek
issuable upon conversion of all outstanding convertible FFIEBRARREETZRITE 27
bonds issued by the Company is 1,805,000,000 (2022: MREHFBZATETRSRMDEK
1,805,000,000). B A&1,805,000,000 (=& = — 4 :
1,805,000,0000%) °
28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 28. R IKE FI 5t &
Retirement benefit costs R RE R B A
The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory rEBAMEBEERAEERZRFELTE
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF S EFEVE B A 258 Bl A HE e RIK
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme BRI E ([RS8 ) EL EREH
Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions Mo REBEBBEBETEER - HRDE
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ RNEBHBIBAZEDHGE WK
relevant income and are charged to profit or loss as they REBTZNEERRMR - RES
become payable in accordance with the rules of the Bl EERASECEESHAE
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held B mEYEREESRHS AKEZ
separately from those of the Group in an independently 1B EH RN A58 TE £ 5T 8 (F T 1 3R
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions HHEBNES - BIERBESE
vest fully with the employees when contributed in the MPF EXrkEESZEHEZEESHYK
Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its AZ5%REEEFTEIEL K M
employees are each required to make contribution to the BABBAKA 2 LR A30,0008 7T °
MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income BESFEIERAEEE o
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.
The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which RPEEENARGNEBEAREE A
operate in the PRC are required to participate in a SEEHTENERNTRERSE
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal g o ZEMBRBIAZETENAR
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute — B AARBRSETEIHER -
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central TR TIBE P REAREF S BIR
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit JER RS IRE PR o RPRE
or loss as they become payable in accordance with REFTEIHAE AEEMNEETHEHK
the rules of the central pension scheme. The Group’s TE2HEBENES - NEEIHIUGR
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when RestalER (B EZEREBEAH
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group EERREREZAENEERERN
has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e. ) c RZTE_=F=HA=+—H "
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the AEBEWERKRESEE TR 2 Yt
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of KRATARIBR R RFEE AR -

such contributions). As at 31 March 2023, no forfeited
contribution under the pension scheme of the Group is
available for deduction of contribution payable in coming
years.
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2. AEANELRF

Dr. Mao and Dr. Xie have beneficial non-controlling interest
in the shares of the Company. In addition, they have
joint control of a company which has shareholding of the
Company giving it significant influence over the Company.
Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has entered into the
following related party transactions:

EFELEHBELRARBRMDFES
BRIFIERERS - o REKFRE
R k7 R RN ¢ ik s NIk
BEARENZRE ~ R TBER
REMBHMAREEI  AEECDE
TURTHEALRS:

2023 2022
—g=-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Service fee expense paid and B R ERTFARF
payable to Dr. Mao, a shareholder REEBLZ
of the Company (Note i) AR 7% & B 2 (M9 5E1) 672 672
Loan from Dr. Mao, a substantial REARARB —UEERE
shareholder of the Company (Note i)  E1H+ 2 & 3 (B 5Eii) 51,000 40,000
51,672 40,672
Key management compensation: FTEERE WM
Salaries and other benefits FekEMmEH 2,888 2,508
Retirement benefits scheme RIKGE B FT I 3K
contributions 18 18
2,906 2,526

Notes:

(i) This transaction constitutes continuing connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is exempted from the
reporting and disclosure requirement pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of
the Listing Rules.

(i) The loan from a shareholder is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayment on demand (2022: unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayment on demand).

B &

() GWIER BN ETHRE4AEETH
SEEHR I ERGETLEMBAE
4ATEMHRBTHRERBEERTE

(i) KA UBRRzERBELR  EFE
RRERER(ZS__F - 8EF &
B RIEERERE) -
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30. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 30. XATRKEBARF1E
OF THE COMPANY

Place of
incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued Percentage of ownership interest/ Principal
registration operation paid-up capital voting power held by the Group activities
AL/
RS EELY dft/ ERTARRA AREMABEERRS /REB2AAM  TEEE
2023 2022
Z8-=
Directly Indirectly Indirectly
E& [ % ik
Lucky Full Holdings Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
Islands Islands
BRERARAR ARERRES HBABRES 1ERLAR RERRKR
Clear Rich International Limited  British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% S 100%  Investment holding
Islands Islands
RERRERAT AELBARES HBABRES 1ZTLER REZR
China United Gene Health Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% S 100%  Trading of beauty
Limited equipment and
products
ZERCERBRELERAR &4 Bk BTERR FRREREREM
g%
Mega Fortune Corporation Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited i B Db REER
First Team Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment holding
Bk B BTERER REZK
Multi-Wealth Investment Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
b B 1ETERR REER
Able Earn Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EERERRAR Bk B BTERER RAZR
Top Nice Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Securities
investment
BREEARAR B B BTEER EARE
Mega Cedar Group Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% = 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding and
securities
investment
AELEARES EEABEREE 1ELLER RAZRRES
3
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OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Perfect Net Limited

New Wonder Limited

Rankup Holdings Limited

Marvel Wonder Global Limited

East Longmark (Shanghai)
HealthCare Limited (Note @)

REM(LE) REERRHE
ERAR (Wita)

Shanghai Honglian Investment
Advisory Limited (Note b)

LELERERAERAA
(F3tb)

Smart Ascent (Note ¢)

4 (Bate)

Fosse Bio (Note ¢)

Place of
incorporation/
registration
AMmEL/
it fit i 5

British Virgin
Islands
EEEBRES
British Virgin
Islands
AEEARES
British Virgin
Islands
REEARES
British Virgin
Islands

ZEREARESR

PRC

Gl

PRC

Gl

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong

Place of
operation

EEME

British Virgin
Islands
AEEARES
British Virgin
Islands
AREARES
British Virgin
Islands
AEEARES
British Virgin
Islands

RBAARES

PRC

hE

PRC

il

Hong Kong

BE

hE
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30. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Registered/issued
paid-up capital

it/ ERTHZRA

USS$1 ordinary share

USS$1 ordinary share
1= LRk

HK$28 million
registered capital

28,000,000 7T
iftax

HK$3.5 million
registered capital
3,500,000/ 10
&R
HK$10,000 ordinary
shares
10,000 7T & B &
HK$100,000 ordinary

shares

100,000 T £ K

4= A

AR AT R M

30. X BB AR F B

Percentage of ownership interest/
voting power held by the Group

AREAERERER REEZAIN
2023
e

)

Directly

=3

Indirectly
A&

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

26.01%

2023%F 1}

2022

B

Indirectly
&

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

26.01%

Principal
activities

IRRH

Investment
holding
RERR

Investment
holding
RERR

Investment
holding
REER

Investment
holding
RERR

Provision of
genetic testing
services

REEZRAH RS

Inactive

AR

Investment
holding
REER

Development and
commercialisation
of oral insulin
products

2 RER AR
REZEMD
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30. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 30. XARMEBARIFEw®
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued Percentage of ownership interest/ Principal
registration operation paid-up capital voting power held by the Group activities
& i 2 EELY df/ ERTHERA rEEFEEREELR RERZEAN TEER
2023
—EC=
Directly Indirectly Indirectly
E# A& B 5853
Welly Surplus Development Hong Kong PRC HK$100 ordinary - 26.01% = 26.01%  Inactive
Limited (Note c) shares
RRERERAA (M) B i 1008 TEBR 3374
Nation Joy Industries Limited  British Virgin British Virgin US$10,000 ordinary - 51% - 51%  Inactive
(Note ¢) Islands Islands shares
EREXARAR (Wit ABEAREE KEEAREES  10000ETEBR FER
Notes: B2
() East Longmark is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in (a) RERAR-ZE—F+—A=+1HH
the PRC on 24 November 2011 for a period of thirty years. EHRERIZINEEZELE A=
F o
(b)  Shanghai Honglian Investment Advisory Limited is a wholly foreign- b) LEBLEREZRNBERATDNAR-E
owned enterprise established in the PRC on 26 January 2015 for a —RAF-AZTANBEFBRKILZINE
period of thirty years. 2ELE ABH=1TF-
(c0 These companies became subsidiaries of the Company upon () WERAERZZT—HEFEAZ+NH
completion of Acquisition on 28 July 2014. ZWEEKEKBARB ZHEBRR -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company ARFIEERE  LREEEHASE
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, RFEEZUBEEREERNTEL
principally affect the financial results of the year or formed BREEFEETEXDZ2HEBE AR -
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give iRt LM B AR ZFE &S
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the A2 EeFEREEAanNLiE -

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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30. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the year or any time during the
year.

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned

AR AT R M

30. X BB AR F B

RN 2 72 A8 B Sk FF DR RIS ) Lt
B ARSI EETARER cEBE
% o

TRANAEEERERNIFZBE

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling mZEEEMBAR:
interests:
Proportion of Loss and other
ownership comprehensive loss
Place of incorporation interests held allocated to Accumulated
and principal place of by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
A 3L R FEREEFBEEZ PEFHFERES
HEARER TERE Y BREARE2LS 2FBRHEMZEFE Rt FERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f —T-_F ZE-= ES £ ZB-=F —ZT-_!
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
FTAEL TAET BT BT
Smart Ascent (Note) Hong Kong 49% 49% (1,235) (735) (8,934) (7,699
A (B ) e
Non-wholly owned subsidiary of
Smart Ascent
EEZETENBARA
Fosse Bio (Note) Hong Kong/PRC 73.99% 73.99% (6,521) (7,778) 945,954 952,476
B () B/ HE
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-controlling
interests (1,217) (859) (1,384) (144)
BEHLRERZ

(ERIE NN

(8,973) (9,372) 935,636 944,633
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30. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 30. A ARKEB AR FEE @
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s ARAAGSEAREAE fof m )
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is DA TEjjﬁﬁkﬁﬂﬁkﬁm KXo
set out below. The summarised financial information below —[E(ﬁﬁ;%z H@féﬂ MEZINKERN
represents amounts before intra-group eliminations. NAFEIHHATM £ o
Smart Ascent and its subsidiaries EERAKEAA
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T AT
Current assets mENE E 1,884 5,769
Non-current assets FERMBEE 1,373,224 1,373,224
Current liabilities mENBE (52,426) (47,704)
Non-current liabilities EREBBME (64,333) (59,929)
Equity attributable to owners ZIN/NIE PN
of the Company FE A e = 322,713 326,727
Non-controlling interests JE 2 iR #E 25 935,636 944,633
Revenue & - —
Expenses A (12,979) (13,274)
Loss and total comprehensive FRNHELEE
expense for the year > %8 (12,978) (13,172)
Loss and total comprehensive EBEEEREARX
expense attributable to MERE
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE? FS DN (4,005) (3,800)
Non-controlling interests FEZ IR B 2 (8,973) (9,372)
(12,978) (13,172)
Net cash outflow REEES 2
from operating activities RE ML FE (12,286) (11,123)
Net cash inflow from financing REEEE 2
activities WEeEMAFRE 12,000 10,757
There are no net cash flows from investing activities. REEHUEELER S REFHE °
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COMPANY
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4R a8

GRa PTG R T A

31. K2R 2 M B EH

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiary KRB AAMERE - =
Right-of-use assets EHREEE 941 2,822
941 2,822
Current assets mBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other ERHIE 2k
receivables B g W B 481 481
Amounts due from group companies JEUWEE A&l 2 FIA 394,544 390,978
Bank balances and cash RITHHBIERS 945 3,010
395,970 394,469
Current liabilities mB) A&
Lease liabilities HE81E 968 1,881
Accruals and other payables FEET & B & Bt JE T 5RIB 1,788 1,507
Loan from shareholder R B B RE K 51,000 40,000
Convertible bond A #2 AR & 55 1,036,312 —
1,090,068 43,388
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(AE)AEFHE (694,098) 351,081
Total asset less current liabilities BMEERTBAG (693,157) 353,903
Non-current liabilities EmBAEE
Convertible bonds M RES 68,510 871,791
Lease liabilities HEAE - 968
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBERE 68,510 872,759
Net liabilities B 5 %58 (761,667) (518,856)
Capital and reserves BARN
Share capital Eﬁ 14,642 14,642
Reserves B (776,309) (533,498)
Total equity e = 4R (761,667) (518,856)
The financial statements were approved by the board of MBERREHETENR_ZE_=F-
directors on 29 June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: AZ+hB# & THUATESKE
=E:
Jiang Nian Tang Rong
BB
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EBEFE EFE
2023 BEMBHEREYNEERAE
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31. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE M. ARA 2 HBE R =
COM PANY (Continued)
Reserve of the Company AR 2 iR#E
Convertible
Share equity Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
CIE: Y.
B 17 % B EandA RitEE @gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET FET
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZT——4%F
MA—H 1,119,294 575,392 (2,278,824) (584,138)
Profit and total comprehensive 4 3% Fl & & UL %5
income for the year k] — = 50,640 50,640
As at 31 March 2022 and i
1 April 2022 ZA=+—-8k
—E-F
MA—H 1,119,294 575,392 (2,228,184) (533,498)
Loss and total comprehensive & AEE &k 2 EFX
expenses for the year FEE - = (242,811) (242,811)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBZZ=F
=HA=+—8H 1,119,294 575,392 (2,470,995) (776,309)
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rRE SRR M R
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32.&mITH
Categories of financial instruments @I AEER
2023 2022
—ZE_= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Financial assets tHMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL R FEGAEDZ
Trade receivables B 5 W R K 6,167 9,260
Deposits and other receivables & kA th & W R IE 774 741
Bank balances and cash RITHEBNIRS 1,331 4,083
Total fat 8,272 14,084
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — ZE#H K X5 £/ B &
Convertible bonds Al 2 % (& & 1,104,822 871,791
Trade payables 5 EERN 4,022 8,153
Accruals and other payables FEETE AR B E N RIR 3,466 3,975
Amounts due to non-controlling FE AT I 122 A% 7 25 B3R
interests 3,092 3,092
Loan from a non-controlling interest ~ KB IFERERE R 10,346 10,346
Amounts due to former JE 11 AT FE 152 AR 2= IR
non-controlling interests 724 724
Amount due to a former associate FET R B & R B RIA 41,947 41,947
Loan from a substantial shareholder HRE—fITERFE K 51,000 40,000
Loan from a former associate RERTHZE AR ER 23,593 16,853
Total #Et 1,243,012 996,881

Financial risk management objectives and

policies

HMERMEERERBR

AEECFESRTIABIEZSREK
R HBEERERS - RITHE
B REFERERER  BHEN
B EETER R EMENFIR - &
IR 12 Bt 25 BN0R ~ BT B SR 2 R
BEFIE KA UTERRER
KEREERRER  REFERE
BERRAIBRRES -ZFERT

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, bank
balances, loans from non-controlling interests, trade
payables, accruals and other payables, amounts due
to non-controlling interests, amounts due to former
non-controlling interests, loan from a substantial
shareholder, loan from a former associate, loans from a
non-controlling interests and convertible bonds. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective B7HBREBWERE -HZE
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments ERMITEFAZRARBENXRR
include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk SERRERBESRR - MABN
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set fA] 4% R 7% 35 B B D BROSR B B PR 3 o
out below. The management manages and monitors EEEEERERZFRR AR
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are A 3 B K A U §I) 7T A i A §E A o
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable trade and
other receivables and deposits and bank balances for
current period and prior year.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The credit risk on the Group’s bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures. In addition, management reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable debts.

In respect of trade receivables, all sales made to major
customer who have been given short credit terms. These
credit evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The average credit period granted
to the customers was 90 days (2022: 90 days). As at 31
March 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was concentrated on one (2022: one) customer which
amounted for 100% of the total trade receivables. The
Group will make specific provision for those balances
which cannot be recovered. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers. In the opinion of the
directors, the default risk faced by the Group is considered
to be low.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continveq) 32. €@ T Hw»
Financial risk management objectives and BEEMEEEERBE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FERBERE %{3(%
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented M B2 7 & = 15 B & 2 15 $0 BR (£ (a1 R
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the ERGBRES! M‘%ﬂi{/ﬂi‘%mxlﬁA
consolidated statement of financial position after deducting MEEMRAE - A&EBE W EREH
any impairment allowance. The Group does not provide EAEEEREE R RS E
financial guarantee which would expose the Group to credit R ©
risk.
The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach ASBRERAESHMGREEREIR
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a Zﬁ%(t)ﬂi.ﬁr;iﬁﬁﬂfm HEE - H5
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all accounts FARBEREREHBERESR
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade BEE - %uﬂ‘gi‘ﬁﬁmmﬁﬁiﬂé B85
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk BUWERERBEAXAZEERRBRER
characteristics and the days past due. &ﬁﬁﬂ%gﬁl D
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience EHEBEEEENBE —FT2ERE
over the past year. The historical loss rates are adjusted BREBRTE LEJ@EEY%MM%&A
to reflect current and forward-looking information on Rt EBEPEERKKIBEINE
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the MEBREREZNE A &HIJ &
customers to settle the receivables. Ko
Trade
receivables
= 5% LBZ'T)\
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FMA—H 496
Allowance for expected credit loss recognised B MR EH(EEEEEE 415
Reversed of expected credit loss recognised BOoOEmREBREEESE (496)
415
As at 31 March 2022 and as at 1 April 2022 RZEZ—F=A=+—HK
—E-_FMA—H
Allowance for expected credit loss recognised B RBH(EEEIBEE 235
Reversed of expected credit loss recognised BEEHREEEBE (415)
As at 31 March 2023 R-—ZFE-=%=ZA=+—H 235
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

138

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The credit quality of other receivables and deposits
excluding prepayments has been assessed with reference
to historical information about the counterparties default
rates and financial position of the counterparties. The
directors are of the opinion that the credit risk of other
receivables and deposits is low due to the sound collection
history of other receivables due from them. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of the other receivables and
deposits excluding prepayments is assessed to be close to
zero and no provision was made as of 31 March 2023 and
2022.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. In addition to issuance of new shares, the Group
also relies on convertible bonds as a significant source of
liquidity for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$1,137,161,000 as at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$80,822,000).

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2023 Annual Report

32. €@ IT A

BEREEAERBE®

FEERKBEBEFMGE
HhERAEL RS (TREEMNRK
HWNEEERNKBREZEBRSH
BHUNERRRGHTHBERAOE L E
BIEffE - ZEZRBHEMERFIER
BemMEERBEMN RN EAMmE
WS RENRRCERR T - Bt
ﬁmﬁw NI KRS (TEEEMNR
BINEHEESEBRIHIEAR
T'Hﬁi_gz—iﬁ_z__
ZR=+—BYEAIREE -

RBELER
REEBRDESRRE  AEEE
B MR EﬁiZﬁi&ﬁ@%a
Y MEBEBRZKERUNAETEE
Z%Wh1§% A RO A IR 20
ERPZHE REE-_ZT-_=FK
:7::¢ ﬁ +—BLEFE B
BITHR DN - ANEB T ERB AT AR
BEHEEARBDESZEERIR -

AEBR_ZTE-_=ZF=ZA=+—
EZWQEﬁtﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁ
1,137,161,0000% (= & = = 4

80,822,000/% 7T) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR AT R M

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 32. €@ T Hw»
Financial risk management objectives and BEEMEEEERBE @
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continueq) RBESRERE)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRHFDAEEZETESRABEZ
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities FAEGAEHBE A EERBRR
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes KB ZEXBEREMNEREAESER &R
both interest and principal cash flows. g o
Liquidity risk tables mENE & R K

Carrying
Weighted ~ On demand Total amount at
average  or less than 3monthsto  Over 1year undiscounted 31 March

interest rate 1month  1-3 months 1 year to5years  cash flows 2023
R-B=Z%

RERY ik A% ZA=t-A

mETHRE  SR-BR -E=@A Z@AE-F -£21fF REREAH ZRAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERL ThEn TiEn ThEn TiEn TiEn

31 March 2023 “E-=F=f=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabiliies FESRER
Trade payables - 4,022 - - - 4,022 4,022
Accruals and other payables - 2,972 - - - 2,972 2,972
Amounts due to non-controlling
interests - 3,092 - - - 3,092 3,002
Amounts due to former non- fE
controlling interests - 724 - - - 124 724
Amount due to a former associate EREE AT - 41,947 - - - 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non-controlling interest REFERE - 10,346 - - - 10,346 10,346
Loan from a substantial shareholder RE-fi - 51,000 - - - 51,000 51,000
Loan from a former associate REAHE 5.00 - - 6,125 19,600 25,125 23,593
Convertible bonds TaRES 20.75 - - 996,025 103,600 1,099,625 1,104,820
Lease liabilities HEAE 3.99 164 326 489 - 979 968
114,267 326 1,002,639 123,200 1,240,432 1,243,484
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continue)
Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continuead)
Liquidity risk tables (Continued)

Weighted ~ On demand
average  orless than

32.

interest rate 1 month 1-3 months

WETERE  SR-BR -

31 March 2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities

E=fiA

HK$ 000
TER

.= NP
BEREEEEERBEX®

REBE SRR
RBE S EARRE )

Carrying
Total amount at
3monthsto  Over 1year  undiscounted 31 March
1 year to 5 years cash flows

28 REB

fiAz-% -FZL% B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TEL

Trade payables - 8,153 - - - 8,153 8,153
Other payables - 3,975 - - - 3,975 3,975
Amount due to non-controlling
interests - 3,092 - - - 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former non-controlling
interests - 724 - - - 724 724
Amount due to a former associate - 41,947 - - - 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non-controlling interest - 10,346 - - - 10,346 10,346
Loan from a substantial shareholder - 20,000 - 20,000 - 40,000 40,000
Loan from a former associate 5.00 - - - 18,375 18,375 16,853
Convertible bonds 20.75 - - - 1,074,600 1,074,600 871,791
Lease liabilities 399 164 326 1,469 979 2,938 2,849
88,401 326 21,469 1,093,954 1,204,150 999,730

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.
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33. NOTES SUPPORTING THE CONSOLIDATED 33. %S HREe R EBERMK =
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

MEARPEENBEYHEK:

Loan from IGEN
anon- froma Loan from
Lease controlling substantial aformer Convertible
liabilities interest shareholder  associate bonds Total
(Note 23) (Note 24) (Note 24) (Note 24) (Note 26)
REFER RE-EFE XREANHE
HEEE HRZER RRER ARER THRRES @it
(K 5E23) (K 24) (f 7 24) (Fif 5E24) (Kt &t 26)
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL  FER  FER FAR FEn FER
As at 1 April 2021 RZZT_—%
mA—A 1,118 20,929 20,000 16,118 933,312 991,477
Financing cash flows EER&RE (2,119) (10,583) 20,000 - - 7,298
New lease entered ~ BAIUHMEE 3,763 = = = = 3,763
Modification of CHEEL -
covertible bonds — - - - (250,653) (250,653)
Finance cost HHER 84 - - 735 189,132 189,951
Exchange T
adjustments s - - — - 3
As at 31 March 2022 RWZZ==%
and 1 April 2022 ZA=+-8k
mA—A 2,849 10,346 40,000 16,853 871,791 941,839
Financing cash flows EER&RE (1,959) = 11,000 5,880 = 14,921
Finance cost BBER 78 - - 860 233,031 233,969
As at 31 March R-ZBZ=fF
2023 ZA=+-H 968 10,346 51,000 23,593 1,104,822 1,190,729
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of amounts
due to a former associate, non-controlling interests and
former non-controlling interests, loan from a non-controlling
interest, loan from a substantial shareholder, loan from a
former associate and convertible bonds, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital and reserves. The
directors of the Company review the capital structure on an
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure using net debt to
equity ratio; whereby net debt comprises convertible bonds
less bank balances and cash whilst equity means the total
equity of the Group. During the year, the Group’s strategy
to maintain a healthy net debt to equity ratio has remained
unchanged, and the debt to equity ratio is 8.85 as at 31
March 2023 (2022: 2.53).
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Financial Summary

=

RESULTS E 4
For the year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
BE=A=1-HLEE
“§I=f -FT-C “F--f ZEIRE ZENF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THL THL
Revenue g 8,075 11,145 15,189 14,580 18,589
Loss for the year FRER (254,671) 36,431 (212,155) (222,462) (260,911)
Attributable to: 5E:

Owners of the Company ANSIE DN (245,698) 45,803 (204,939) 211,117) (260,272)
Non-controlling interests FERER (8,973) (9,372) (7,216) (11,345) (639)
(254,671) 36,431 (212,155) (222,462) (260,911)
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Financial Summary

B IS E
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

As at 31 March

R=ZA=+t—-8
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E- ! —E-—F —E-FTHF —ZE-hE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000
THT TEL TEL BT FTAET
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,374,165 1,376,046 1,374,410 1,376,692 1,534,215
Current assets MBEE 9,883 18,950 28,800 42,186 44,539
Current liabilities mEBERE (1,147,044) (99,772) (800,673) (70,540) (32,402)
Non-current liabilities FEnEEE (96,442) (899,958) (243,831) (780,565) (751,540)
Net assets BEFE 140,562 395,266 358,706 567,773 794,812

Attributable to: B

Owners of the Company ARRHEAAN (795,074) (549,367) (595,352) (390,373) (74,957)
Non-controlling interests R R 935,636 944,633 954,058 958,146 869,769
Total equity gk 140,562 395,266 358,706 567,773 794,812
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INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED
EMBEREMRIXBRAG

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

(RASESFMR LR EREFEZARAR)
(Stock Code BEA 5% : 399)



	封面
	目錄 
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	管理層履歷
	外聘顧問履歷
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	封底

